Public Document Pack

WEST OXFORDSHIRE
DISTRICT COUNCIL

Wednesday, 14 May 2025

Tel: 01993 861000
e-mail: democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk

LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE

You are summoned to a meeting of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee which will be held
in Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, Oxfordshire OX28 INB on Tuesday, 27 May 2025 at
2.00 pm.

Giles Hughes
Chief Executive

To: Members of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee (to be appointed at the Annual
Council meeting on 21 May 2025).

Recording of Proceedings — The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Executive, and
Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.
Photography is also permitted. By participating in this meeting, you are consenting to be filmed.

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the
Democratic Services officers know prior to the start of the meeting.

West Oxfordshire District Council, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, OX28 INB
www.westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000

Page 1


http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/

AGENDA

1. Election of Chair

Purpose:
To elect a chair for the Civic Year 2025/26

Recommendation:
That the Chair of Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee be elected for the Civic Year
2025/26.

2. Appointment of Vice-Chair

Purpose:
To appoint a Vice-Chair for the Civic Year 2025/26.

Recommendation:
That a Vice-Chair of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee be appointed for the
Civic Year 2025/26.

3. Apologies for Absence
To receive any apologies for absence from members of Sub-Committee.

4. Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest from members of the Sub-Committee on any
items to be considered at the meeting.

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 14)
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting, held on Monday 7 April 2025.

6. Applications for Development (Pages |5 - 56)
Purpose:
To consider applications for development, details of which are set out in the attached
schedule.

Recommendation:
That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations of the
Head of Planning.

Pages | Application No. | Address Planning
Officer

17-46 | 24/01565/FUL University Farm James Nelson
Witney Road
Hailey

47-56 | 25/00244/FUL Rainbow Farm Clare
Buckland Road Anscombe
Bampton

6.1 University Farm, Witney Road, Hailey

6.2 Rainbow Farm, Buckland Road, Bampton

Page 2



(END)

Applications Determined under Delegated Powers (Pages 57 - 78)

Purpose:
To inform the Sub-Committee of applications determined under delegated powers.

Recommendation:
I. That the report be noted by the Sub-Committee.

Appeal Decisions (Pages 79 - 80)

Purpose:
To inform the Sub-Committee of any appeal decisions.

Recommendation:
I. That the report be noted by the Sub-Committee.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 5

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of the
Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee
Held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, Oxfordshire OX28 |NB
at 2.00 pm on Monday, 7 April 2025

PRESENT

Councillors: Michael Brooker (Chair), Julian Cooper, Steve Cosier, Phil Godfrey, Nick
Leverton, Andrew Lyon, Michele Mead, David Melvin, Andrew Prosser, Sarah Veasey, Adrian
Walsh, Alistair Wray and Dan Levy

Officers: Andrew Brown (Head of Democratic and Electoral Services), James Nelson
(Principal Planner), Joshua McFarland (Assistant Planner), Ana Prelici (Senior Democratic
Services Officer) and Mathew Taylor (Democratic Services Officer)

112 Apologies for Absence.

Apologies of absence were received from Councillor Andy Goodwin and Councillor Rachel
Crouch.

Councillor Dan Levy substituted for Councillor Andy Goodwin.
Councillor Joy Aitman was to substitute for Councillor Rachel Crouch but did not attend.

The Senior Democratic Services Officer commenced the meeting by advising that The Chair,
Councillor Michael Brooker, was unable to be present at the start of the meeting and
Councillor Andy Goodwin, Vice Chair, was also absent. It was noted that in such
circumstances the Sub-Committee was required to elect a substitute to Chair the meeting.

Councillor Michele Mead proposed that Councillor Julian Cooper temporarily chaired the Sub-
Committee. Councillor Steve Cosier seconded the proposal.

Voting record — 12 for the proposal, 0 against, 0 abstentions.
The Sub-Committee Resolved that:

I. Councillor Julian Cooper Chair the meeting until the arrival of Councillor Michael
Brooker.

Councillor Michael Brooker arrived at the meeting at 2:15pm. Councillor Brooker did not
participate in discussion or voting on application 24/01565/FUL University Farm.

Page 5



13

114

Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee

07/April2025

Declarations of Interest
24/01565/FUL University Farm, Witney Road, Hailey

Councillor Sarah Veasey declared that the application was in the bordering District to her
Ward of North Leigh, and the traffic for the application was proposed to go through her
Ward. Councillor Veasey advised that she was not pre-determined on the application.

24/02033FUL Bridge House, Bridge Street, Shilton
None.
24/03269/ADV Unit | Ib, Marriots Walk, Witney

Councillor Andrew Prosser declared that he was an Executive Member and would not vote on
the application but would remain in the Chamber.

Councillor Andrew Lyon declared that the application was within his Ward. Councillor Lyon
advised that he was not pre-determined on the application.

25/00289/CND, 3 Church View, Bampton - Application determined under delegated powers

Councillor Alistair Wray declared that item 48 in the Report on applications determined
under delegated powers was his property.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

Councillor Adrian Walsh proposed that the minutes of the previous meeting held on Monday
10 March 2025 be agreed by the Sub-Committee as a true and accurate record. This was
seconded by Councillor Sarah Veasey, was put to the vote and was agreed unanimously by the
Sub-Committee.

The Sub-Committee Resolved to:

Agree the minutes of the previous meeting held on Monday 10 March 2025 as a true and
accurate record.

Page 6



15

116

Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee
07/April2025

Applications for Development

24/01565/FUL University Farm, Witney Road, Hailey

James Nelson, Principal Planner presented the application for the installation and operation of
a renewable energy generating station comprising ground-mounted photovoltaic solar arrays
and battery-based electricity storage containers together with switchgear container,
inverter/transformer units, site access, internal tracks, security measures, access gates, other
ancillary infrastructure and landscaping and biodiversity enhancements.

The Principal Planner’s presentation addressed the following points:

The site was split over three parcels. The westernmost and largest comprised most of
the panels, the central parcel contained further panels, and the easternmost parcel of
the site had no panels proposed.

The site was north of Witney, with Hailey to the west.
The land was undeveloped agricultural land.

Constraints on the site included: Hailey Conservation Area to the west, Listed
Buildings associated with Swanhall Farm and public rights of way.

The main site access was on New Yatt Road.

The Landscape Strategy showed a significant reduction in panels in Field | and 3 from
the previous application. Field 4 included a buffer and structural landscaping to screen
the site from Listed Buildings and Heritage Assets. Increased screening had also been
placed adjacent to New Yatt Road to the west of Field 10. Two eastern fields were
reserved for skylark mitigation.

The panels had a maximum height of 3 metres. Battery inverter stations had an
approximate height of 3 metres. Fencing and gates were timber post and wire and
were approximately 2 metres in height. DNO and mast heights were a maximum of 5
metres.

The construction compound was in the northern portion of Field |10 for the duration
of construction.

Robert Gunn, North Leigh Parish Council, addressed the Sub-Committee in objection to the
application which raised the following points:

There had been no changes to the proposed construction traffic route from the
previous application.

The proposed route for construction traffic was via the A4095 Common Road, Park
Road and New Yatt Road.

The route proposed for construction traffic provided unacceptable risk to road users.
The route included passing houses in close proximity to roads, pinch points, a lack of
footpaths and would further damage the carriageways.

Page 7



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee
07/April2025
e The impact on views from New Yatt Road were impacted by the site.

e The biodiversity concerns had been addressed in a superficial way.

The Sub-Committee sought clarity from the speaker on the figures provided for traffic near
misses and construction traffic road movements, confirmed that the concerns raised by the
speaker were for the construction phase only, and clarified the position of the speaker that
biodiversity had been addressed superficially.

Bente Klein, Development Project Manager for RWE, addressed the Sub-Committee in
support of the application which raised the following points:

e Following the tangible changes made to the proposal put to the Sub-Committee in
2023 the Officer had put the current proposal forward for approval.

e Projects such as the proposal were crucial due to accelerating climate change and the
Governments pledge to create a carbon neutral electricity grid by 2035 and to reach
net zero by 2050.

e The proposal would meet the electricity needs of 15,000 Oxfordshire homes.

e Ecological enhancements on the site had resulted in a 104% biodiversity net gain for
habitat.

e The proposal included two permissive paths, community orchard and community
benefit fund of up to £462k.

e Tangible changes from the previous application were: additional landscape mitigation
which had meant that the Conservation Officer no longer objected to the proposal,
reinstatement of historic field boundaries and increased panelled areas on the public
right of way.

e The Highways Authority had provided no objections to the development.

e All reasons for previous refusal had been addressed.
The Committee sought clarity on the following points from the speaker:

e The community benefit fund of £462k was over the lifetime of the project of 40 years.
Conversations with Hailey Parish Council as the host Parish were ongoing as to how
this fund would be split between up-front and annual payments. The community would
decide on the use of the funds.

e The size of area within the development that related to solar panels, and a comparison
for this to the previous application. The site was 98 hectares in total, |7 hectares was
for skylark mitigation, otherwise providing a split of the site in this way was a complex
process.

e Electricity would go to the National Grid with no tariff reduction for local
communities.

Page 8



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee

07/April2025

The site was low grade soil and there was an intention for sheep farming to take place
on the site following development.

Shared equity with residents had been considered. However, in order for a PPA to
take place, demand had not been reached in West Oxfordshire.

Time limitations for construction traffic were put forward as part of the proposal.
Construction was limited between 8am and 8pm Monday to Friday, and 8am and |pm
on Saturday. Deliveries would be batched during these construction times.

The site was chosen by the applicant as there was grid capacity available in Witney.
The site was chosen with consideration to planning constraints and finding landowners
willing to sell.

The Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) covered cabling to Witney. The
cabling would need to be new.

The application had been given a connection date. The grid queue was currently being
reordered with an outcome expected by the end of the year.

The Principal Planner’s presentation addressed the following points:

Policy EH6 of the Local Plan supported the principle of renewable energy
developments however such developments would be located and designed to minimise
adverse impacts, with particular regard to conserving high valued landscape and the
historic environment.

The NPPF had been updated since the application was submitted, strengthening
support for renewable energy developments.

The July 2024 Written Ministerial Statement and the 2024 Clean Power Strategy 2030
Action Plan stated that solar energy played a key role in the transition to renewables.

The proposal would provide electricity for 17,000 homes and offset 44,000 tonnes of
CO2 per year.

The principle of development was supportable and significant weight proportionate to
the scale of the scheme must be awarded in favour of granting consent.

The application follows a refusal at the December 2023 meeting of the Sub-
Committee. The application had overcome the three reasons for refusal at that
meeting; landscape and visual impact, heritage and biodiversity.

o Heritage: Changes in the proposal included the reinstatement of historic
hedgerows, reduction in extent of panels, increased tree-belts to provide
buffers to heritage assets, increased undeveloped offsets. The changes had
successfully mitigated the level of harm previously identified and the
Conservation Officer and County Archaeologist had raised no objections on
heritage grounds.

o Biodiversity: The scheme would provide 105.18% increase in area habitat units,
28.6% increase in hedgerow units and 23.85% increase in water course units.

Page 9



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee

07/April2025

The Biodiversity Officer had raised no objections subject to securing BNG
monitoring costs via s.106.

o Landscape and visual impact: an independent review of the submission was
commissioned and had endorsed the findings of the submitted LVA. The layout
and landscape changes had significantly reduced the extent of built form.

The impacts of the scheme would be contained to a site and localised level and the
proposal sought to mitigate impacts in accordance with policy EH6.

Construction traffic operational limitations had been given. However, Oxfordshire
County Council (OCC) had stated the times should be amended to avoid school pick
up times in North Leigh. Further traffic management had been required. OCC are
satisfied requirements could be secured by an updated CTMP by condition.

Extensive benefits were considered sufficient to justify approval of the application.
Therefore, the application was recommended for provisional approval subject to s.106
agreement covering BNG monitoring costs.

The Chair then invited the Sub-committee to discuss the application, which raised the
following points:

An updated CTMP was required by OCC, and OCC were satisfied that this could be
managed through condition. West Oxfordshire District Council would have the ability
to enforce the CTMP. Requests for contributions towards traffic management through
s.106 were not normally made.

It was noted that the updated CTMP included access routes and showed clearly which
roads would be impacted by construction traffic. Smaller routes would not be impacted
by HGV movement.

The route of the construction traffic in the CTMP was discussed with reference to
North Leigh. The factors raised were: the number of trips for construction traffic, the
location and suitability of the proposed temporary traffic lights, the existing and future
housing development in North Leigh as a contributor to traffic, the lack of pavement
and tight junctions. The dangers of these factors were highlighted.

It was noted that the reasons for refusal on the previous application had not included
highways.

The Swept Path Analysis had been undertaken at the entrance to the construction site
only.

The option of an alternative route, particularly for HGV vehicles, was discussed. The
B4022 through Hailey was suggested. It was noted that condition |3 required an
updated CTMP to be submitted, and re-routing could be considered under the
discharge of that condition. The possibility of adding an informative comment to the
condition was discussed. It was noted however that there was no mention of re-
routing in the response from OCC Highways.

Page 10



17

Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee
07/April2025

e S.106 agreements could cover the cabling that was required to run under the road into
Witney. Government guidelines for compensation for overhead cabling was cited as an
example.

e In terms of the biodiversity monitoring condition, it was noted that this needed to be a
reasonable annual fee over the lifetime of the project. It was noted that the fee was to
cover the cost of officer time and had been calculated by the Principal Ecologist. It was
discussed that money should be sought through the s.106 agreement to cover this.

e The Council had declared a climate emergency, the scheme was important in tackling
this.

Councillor Dan Levy proposed to defer the application, in order to consult OCC Highways
indicating that the route was an issue and proposing an alternative route via B4022. This was
seconded by Councillor Steve Cosier and put to the vote.

Voting record — |12 for the proposal, 0 against, 0 abstentions. | did not vote.

The Sub-Committee Resolved to:

Defer the application in order to consult with Oxfordshire County Council Highways and
indicate that an alternative route for construction traffic via the B4022 would be required in
the CTMP.

24/02033/FUL Bridge House, Bridge Street, Shilton

Councillor Michael Brooker assumed the Chair of the Sub-Committee.

James Nelson, Principal Planner presented the application for photovoltaic solar panel
installation which comprised 42 panels on the roof of the spa building (amended plans and
description).

The Principal Planner’s presentation addressed the following points:

e The application followed the previous months application to the Sub-Committee.

e The applicant had amended the application rather than proceed to refusal which had
been proposed by the Sub-Committee on the grounds of heritage impact in respect of
the ground mounted panels.

e The ground mounted panels had been removed from the previous application. All
other details of the application were unchanged, with only the roof mounted panels on
the spa building remaining.

e The amendment to the original application had been allowed as the ground and roof
mounted panels were easily separable.

Page 11



118

Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee

07/April2025

Councillor Michele Mead proposed to approve the application in line with the officer’s
recommendations. Councillor Nick Leverton seconded the proposal, and it was put to the

vote.

Voting record — |2 for the proposal, | against, 0 abstentions.

The Sub-Committee Resolved to:

Approve the application in line with officer recommendations.

24/03269/ADV Unit | Ib Marriotts Walk, Witney

Joshua McFarland, Planning Officer presented the application for the erection of a fascia sign
and a projecting sign (retrospective).

The Planning Officer presentation addressed the following points:

The site was a retail unit in the main shopping area of Witney.
The site was in the Witney and Cogges Conservation Area.

The main considerations were the impact on public amenity and the Conservation
Area.

The site was on Council owned land.

During the course of the application, it had come to light that the works had been
carried out.

Amended plans showing smaller lettering had been submitted. The amendments were
considered a minor change and reduced the visual impact.

The sign was considered congruent with the local vicinity and in keeping with the
location.

There was no impact on visual amenity, the sign was acceptable in design terms and
there were no public safety concerns.

The Chair then invited the Sub-committee to discuss the application, which raised the
following points:

It was noted that the application had come to the Sub-Committee as set out in the
Scheme of Delegation for reasons of transparency. One member suggested that the
Constitution Working Group may wish to review this at a future point if the
Committee were getting large amounts of these sorts of applications.

Page 12



119

120

Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee
07/April2025

Councillor Dan Levy proposed approving the application in line with the officer
recommendations. Councillor Nick Leverton seconded the proposal, and it was put to the
vote.

Voting record — |2 for the proposal, 0 against, | abstention.

The Sub-Committee Resolved to:

Approve the application in line with officer recommendations.

Applications Determined under Delegated Powers

The report giving details of the applications determined under Delegated Powers was
received, explained by the officers and noted by the Sub-committee.

Appeal Decisions

James Nelson, Principal Planner presented the report giving details of the appeal decisions
making the following points:

e There were five appeal decisions to report.
e Two of the appeals had been allowed by the Inspector. Those allowed were Item | —

The Bridge House, and ltem 5 — Muchmeats Ltd Abattoir. Item | had been refused by
the Sub-Committee on the basis of objections from the Heritage Officer. However, the

Inspector had found that the impact was supportable. For Item 5 the Inspector

viewed that there was commercial grounds to allow onsite accommodation provision.

e Items, 2, 3 and 4 were upheld by the Inspector.

The Chair then invited the Sub-Committee to discuss the report, which raised the following
points:

e It was noted that there were no costs incurred by the Council on the appeals allowed

by the Inspector.

e With regard to Item 5, a query was raised as to if the Inspector had noted the quality
of the accommodation, which was a concern of the Sub-Committee. It was noted that
this was a second appeal of this nature that had been allowed by the Inspector, and the
Councils position should be strengthened in the new Local Plan to prevent this pattern

continuing.

The Sub-Committee noted the report.

The Sub-Committee thanked Officers for all their work during the Council year.

Page 13



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee
07/April2025
The Meeting closed at 3.16 pm

Page 14




Agenda Iltem 6

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE

Date: 27th May 2025

REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGER-DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

WEST OXFORDSHIRE
DISTRICT COUNCIL

Purpose:
To consider applications for development details of which are set out in the following pages.

Recommendations:

To determine the applications in accordance with the recommendations of the Development Manager.
The recommendations contained in the following pages are all subject to amendments in the light of
observations received between the preparation of the reports etc and the date of the meeting.

List of Background Papers

All documents, including forms, plans, consultations and representations on each application, but
excluding any document, which in the opinion of the ‘proper officer’ discloses exempt information as
defined in Section 100| of the Local Government Act 1972.

Please note that:
I. Observations received after the reports in this schedule were prepared will be summarised in a
document which will be published late on the last working day before the meeting and available
at the meeting or from www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings

Page 15


http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings

Item Application Number Address Officer

| 24/01565/FUL University Farm, Witney Road, Hailey James Nelson
2 25/00244/FUL Rainbow Farm, Buckland Road, Clare
Bampton Anscombe

Page 16



Application Number 24/01565/FUL
Site Address University Farm

Witney Road

Hailey

Witney

Oxfordshire

OX29 9UH
Date I3th May 2025
Officer James Nelson
Officer Recommendations Provisional Approval
Parish Hailey Parish Council
Grid Reference 435497 E 211865 N
Committee Date 27th May 2025

Location Map

CRa aremg?n@;_’d =

[l
I
i

a

. 51;" SIlval.lil.!?:_' '{_"._L "ﬁ %ﬁ
%}{ 1‘9‘ h r .

&

7 s ML .-'5;'

“'—’:—.: e s

M.;||,|I|:I-;‘:-‘I

_,.'l
T o

-
Toriaia 3

=

Doy HIL

= %

e L R

“n

T
'.I

| = rE-,-nEEh

Liruesy
IFm

T T
LR -
Td Arners e

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316

Application Details:

Installation and operation of a renewable energy generating station comprising ground-mounted
photovoltaic solar arrays and battery-based electricity storage containers together with a switchgear

Page 17



container, inverter/transformer units, site access, internal access tracks, security measures, access gates,
other ancillary infrastructure and landscaping and biodiversity enhancements.

Applicant Details:

Bente Klein

Windmill Hill Business Park
Whitehill Way

Swindon

Wiltshire

SN5 6PB

| CONSULTATIONS
Oxfordshire Fire Service

Parish Council

Env Health Noise And Amenity

Major Planning Applications
Team

Conservation And Design
Officer

District Ecologist

See below.

On balance Hailey Parish Council objects to this proposal. The
balance is tipped by the negative impact of the Interaction of Quarry
Solar Farm with North Witney (neither proposal has considered the
impact of their project on the other) combined with the shortfall
against other benchmarked community benefit proposals and policies.

No objection subject to construction hour condition.

Transport - Recommendation:
No objection subject to:

e Planning Conditions

¢ Informative Note

LLFA - No Objection Subject to Conditions
Archaeology - No Objection subject to Conditions
Fire Service- No Objection.

| concur with the Heritage Statement and have considered the
updated scheme based on my previous comments and the updated
impact assessment. Some of the panels have been removed and a
buffer / screening will provided that mitigates the level of less than
substantial harm previously identified.

My only concern now relates to the fencing / acoustic fencing around
the site. Security / solid metal features is not in-keeping with the
character of this historic rural area. The applicant should investigate
options to utilise fencing that is more in-keeping, or screened etc.

Therefore, | have no objections to the proposal, subject to a
condition for details of fencing / acoustic fencing that should be better

designed / and more appropriate for a historic rural landscape.

See below.

Page 18



Env Health Contamination No objection subject to condition.

Wildlife Trust Objection, in relation to the following issues:

I. Proximity to the multiple surrounding Local Wildlife Sites
(LWSs): High Grove and Coneygar Copse, West Woods,
Eynsham Hall Parks, Cogges Wood, Priest Hill Lane Banks and
Grimes Meadow and Little Grimes and potential for serious
impact on species living within Job's Copse ancient woodland

2. Potential for serious impact on priority species breeding and
wintering birds including skylark.

3. Concerns relating to planned habitat management on site.
4. Concerns relating to lighting.
5. Concerns relating to fencing
WODC Planning Policy No Comment Received.
Manager
Natural England No Objection.
Environment Agency No Objection subject to conditions.
(Note- officers have not included these conditions but have
addressed these matters through consolidating conditions with those
proposed by the ecologist.)
Adjacent Parish Council Witney Town Council - The Town Council recognises the significance

of energy generation without greenhouse gas emissions - energy that
does not have associated carbon dioxide. Climate change and global
warming is one of its biggest concerns.

Whilst Witney Town Council offers no objections, it would urge the
developer to ensure that the countryside remains accessible, and the
users of public rights of way are not adversely affected by the
construction and operational aspects of the proposals through
development and include a traffic mitigation plan during the
construction phase, and reinstatement of public right away following
completion of the development.

The Council is also concerned how the development will affect the
biodiversity in the area and would like to see monitoring of this
throughout construction. Biodiversity must be preserved at all costs -
if sunlight cannot hit the natural producers, the whole eco-system will
start to break down.

The country faces a biodiversity emergency which is running parallel
to the climate emergency and would like to ensure that the
biodiversity is maintained and any loss in the areas is mitigated against;
a financial contribution to biodiversity and nature recovery in and
around Witney is requested to help lessen the impact.

Further to this, members also raised concerns regarding flood
management, and would welcome continued monitoring of the area,
to ensure the development does not increase the risk of flooding

Page 19



Adjacent Parish Council

elsewhere in the local area, particularly in North Witney which is
prone to flooding already.

Witney Town Council would also like to see a contribution which
could provide community gain not only for the for those living in the
closest proximity to the site, but also for Witney residents.

North Leigh - The need for renewable energy is set out in both
national and local policies. However, this does not give an Applicant
carte blanche for any application to be granted permission. The
benefits need to be carefully weighed against the potential adverse
effects and harm arising if permission is granted.

The application states that 35mw of renewable energy will be created
which is a very modest contribution to Local and national aspirations
and a significant factor when weighing benefit against harm.

Para 174 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should
contribute to and enhance the local environment by recognising the
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. There can be no
doubt there will be a significant visual impact if permission is granted,
and the application therefore clearly is contrary to para 174.

The loss of a significant area of agricultural land is also relevant as we
need to recognise having insufficient food to feed ourselves means we
need to import more which creates additional emissions.
Construction Management Plan (CMP)

For construction the application fails to recognise the problems that
will be created in construction and ongoing maintenance along roads
ill designed for the type of traffic that will be generated Again, the
applicant's construction route has not altered since the earlier
application of last year (refused), although the shortcomings and
dangers of that route were highlighted then, and are repeated here,
below.

We estimate that the construction of the solar farm would generate
thousands of additional HGV journeys, and we contest the suitability
of the proposed route for the following reasons. The applicant states
that construction will take up to 9months. Lorries will be up to 54ft in
length.

I. Common Road. This is a residential road which already
experiences a significant volume of commercial traffic. The
road itself is in a poor state of repair and any increase in HGV
traffic will only serve to further its deterioration.

2. The junction of Park Road and New Yatt Road. This too is a
residential road and at this point there is a narrowing of the
carriageway causing a pinch point which only allows for
vehicles to pass in one direction at a time. This is a dangerous
section of road and any increase in HGV traffic will only
increase the risks to pedestrians and other road users.
Further, there are three domestic properties, Hill View,
Paddock House and Gable Cottage, which have their walls
and foundations particularly close to the highway and might
be subject to damage resulting from both direct impact and
ground vibration as a result of additional lorry movements.

Page 20



District Ecologist

3. New Yatt Road from the junction of Green Lane to Masons
Grove. This section of road is particularly dangerous and has
traffic calming, in the form of speed humps and a chicane, in
place. This provides for the traffic travelling west away from
the centre of North Leigh to have right of way over those
entering the village. In practice these measures have been
only partially successful and a number of reports of near
misses, both vehicle to vehicle and vehicle to pedestrian are
known to have occurred. It is considered that any additional
HGV movements are likely to increase the risk of accidents
occurring. New Yatt Road from Masons Grove to New Yatt.
The carriageway between these two points is showing signs of
serious deterioration with potholes, dips, damaged cambers
and collapsing road margins. More importantly this length of
road does not have a footpath and is used by parents walking
their children to the village school, other pedestrians, cyclists
and horses as well as cars and HGV's. As with the other
sections of the route discussed above any additional HGV
movements are likely to increase the risk of accidents
occurring. It is our view that the proposed route would
create unacceptable risks to other road users as well has
causing additional severe damage to the carriageways of the
roads in question. While it is understood that materials have
to be delivered to the construction site | believe that
directing HGVs via the B4022 would prove to be a safer and
more suitable route.

Flood Risk and Hydrology
Research shows that solar panels do increase run-off during significant
rain events. The consequence for the Applicant is that they will need
to manage (capture, store and slowly release) the storm water rainfall
run-off from the development. This issue is not addressed adequately
in the applicant's submission.
Number of solar panels, panel supports
The applicant appears not to offer the number of solar panels to be
emplaced on the current application. Additionally, the number of
supports to be driven into the ground and to what depths appears
not to be mentioned.

These questions have a direct bearing on how many HGV
movements will be required.
There are Health and safety issues should there be a battery fire
which has the potential to create air pollution over a very wide area.
It is the view of NLPC that the adverse effects and harm caused if
permission is granted far outweigh the benefits and permission should
therefore be refused.

Acceptable subject to conditions (including those recommended by
NatureSpace) and a S106 agreement for BNG monitoring fee.

Page 21



2 REPRESENTATIONS

2.1 A summary of the representations received are detailed below. Full details can be viewed on the
Council's website.

2.2 45 letters have been received objecting to the application on the following grounds:

HGV movements impacting Common Road and wider road network

Concerns over precedent for development at end of operational life

Impact on biodiversity

Industrialising impact on the on landscape and visual character of the area
Panels should be located on buildings

Impact on agriculture and loss of viable farming land

Lack of planning for solar development on a national scale/questioning benefits of solar
Excessive scale

Noise impact from inverter stations and piling

Adverse impact on amenity of footpath users

Cumulative impact alongside North Witney SDA and other large solar projects
Lack of local support

Increase risk of flooding

Concerns over decommissioning and embodied carbon

Light pollution

Impact on aircraft

2.3 The applicant has also provided || letters of support on behalf of nearby residents. These comments
cite the necessity of such projects to tackle climate change.

2.4 Member's attention is drawn to the letter received from Ramsden Parish Council objecting to the
suggestion that construction traffic is routed through Ramsden High Street.

3 APPLICANT'S CASE
3.1 The submitted Planning Statement concludes as follows:

The Proposed Development comprises the construction, operation and decommissioning of a solar
PV farm and other associated infrastructure. This application comprises a re-submission of the
refused Original Application, with additional mitigation and additional undeveloped areas in
response to the reasons for refusal.

The principle of renewable energy, such as solar power, is supported by local and national planning
policy. Furthermore, the Council has declared a climate emergency, and the UK Government has
committed to meeting a legally binding target of net-zero carbon emissions by 2050. There is
therefore a significant and demonstrable need for the Proposed Development, as set out in Section
2 of this document.

The Applicant has carried out a comprehensive and meaningful pre-application consultation

exercise in respect of the Proposed Development, primarily focused on the local community, but
also including consultation with the Council and other key consultees.

Page 22



It has been demonstrated that the Proposed Development complies with local and national planning
policy and there are significant benefits associated with it. The environmental and technical reports
that form part of the planning application submission demonstrate that there would be no
unacceptable environmental impacts, and there are a number of added benefits, including habitat
creation and biodiversity gains.

These factors, when combined with the significant need for renewable energy, mean that the
planning balance (and, in particular, when considered in the context of the tests under Section 38(6)
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) is weighted significantly in favour of the Proposed
Development.

The Applicant therefore respectfully requests that planning permission is granted for the Proposed
Development.

4 PLANNING POLICIES

OS|I Presumption in favour of sustainable development
OS2 Locating development in the right places

OS3 Prudent use of natural resources

OS54 High quality design

E2 Supporting the rural economy

EH2 Landscape character

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity

EH6 Decentralised and renewable or low carbo

EH7 Flood risk

EH8 Environmental protection

EH9 Historic environment

EHI0 Conservation Areas

EHI I Listed Buildings

EH |3 Historic landscape character

EH 15 Scheduled ancient monuments

EH 16 Non designated heritage assets

WIT6 Witney sub-area strategy

NPPF 2024

HAILNP Hailey Neighbourhood Plan

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.

5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT

5.1 This application seeks planning permission for the installation and operation of a renewable energy
generating station comprising ground-mounted photovoltaic solar arrays and battery-based
electricity storage containers together with a switchgear container, inverter/transformer units, site
access, internal access tracks, security measures, access gates, other ancillary infrastructure and
landscaping and biodiversity enhancements at University Farm, Witney Road, Hailey. The proposed
cable route is included in the accompanying Site Location Plan.

5.2 The site comprises agricultural land located to the north east of Witney, east of Hailey and Poffley

End, and south west of New Yatt and North Leigh covering an area of 99.68 ha. The site is made up
of a number of agricultural fields which are generally located adjacent to each other with some

Page 23



fields separated by New Yatt Road and other fields. The Hailey Conservation Area with several
listed buildings lies to the west of the site. A public right of way (236/15/10) abuts the site to the
north and Bridleways abut the site to the south and east. The North Witney SDA lies to the south
of the site. The site lies within the Wychwood Project Area. Job's Copse, an ancient woodland,
adjoins the site to the north.

5.3 The application was deferred at April's meeting of this Committee to allow further consideration to
be given to the proposed construction access route. Members are advised that a Transport
Technical Note in response to the previous meeting and legal opinion have been submitted by the
applicant for consideration and further comments from OCC Transport have been sought.

5.4 Officers note that since the last meeting, objections have been raised from Ramsden Parish Council
regarding the suggestion of routing traffic through the Village.

Relevant planning history

5.5 Pre-application advice was sought in 2022 and a screening opinion undertaken in 2023 concluded
that an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required.

5.6 In December 2023, application ref. 23/01524/FUL ('Installation and operation of a renewable energy
generating station comprising ground-mounted photovoltaic solar arrays and battery-based
electricity storage containers together with a switchgear container, inverter/transformer units, site
access, internal access tracks, security measures, access gates, other ancillary infrastructure and
landscaping and biodiversity enhancements') was heard by this Committee and refused on landscape
and visual, heritage and biodiversity grounds. For ease of reference, the full reasons for refusal as
set out in the decision notice dated 4th December 2023 were:

I. The proposed development would have a significantly harmful impact on the appearance and character
of the landscape and setting of Hailey and fails to minimise its adverse impacts in conflict with Policies
EH2 and EHé of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 203 1, Policy E3 of the Hailey
Neighbourhood Plan and advice in the NPPF.

2. The proposed development would have a harmful impact on the historic landscape and setting of Hailey
Conservation Area and Swanhall Farm, a Grade Il Listed Building and its associated non-designated
heritage assets and the results of an archaeological evaluation have not been submitted in conflict with
Policies EH9, EHI10, EHI I, EHI3 and EH |6 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and
the NPPF.

3. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate the proposal will not result in significant
biodiversity harm as insufficient survey details have been submitted to ensure that impacts on protected
species are minimised or adequately compensated. Further, insufficient information has been submitted
with regards to demonstrating a measurable biodiversity net gain. Therefore, the proposal does not
comply with the requirements of the Local Plan policy EH3 and paragraphs 174, 179 and 180 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

The proposed development and changes made since previous refusal

5.7 The application site remains unchanged in comparison to that considered under application ref.
23/01524/FUL ('the refused application'). This application comprises the re-submission of the
refused application and effectively seeks to overcome the above reasons for refusal. In response to
the refused application, the following substantive amendments have been made, as summarised in
the applicant's Planning, Design and Access Statement (PDAS):

Page 24



e Reinstatement of historic hedgerows based on tithe maps in fields | and 3 (note- fields as
numbered in the application);

Reduction of extent of panels in field | and 3;

Increased undeveloped offset to west of field 4 and inclusion of tree belt;

Increased undeveloped offset from New Yatt Road in field 10;

Increased undeveloped offset in field 7;

Increased undeveloped offsets to a minimum 5m between boundary features and access tracks
across the development;

e Dormouse Mitigation Strategy and Bat Mitigation Strategies submitted under this application

Development plan

5.8 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for planning
permission to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the
local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material
to the application, and to any other material considerations. In this case, the development plan is
comprised of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 ("WWOLP') and Hailey Neighbourhood Plan 2015
- 2031 ('HNP").

5.9 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of
interested parties your officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application are:

Principle

Use of agricultural land

Impact on the landscape character/visual amenities of the area
Impact on heritage assets

Highway issues

Biodiversity

Flooding and drainage

Principle

5.10 The starting point in the assessment of the principle of development is WOLP Policy OS2, which
sets out the general strategy for the location of new development within the District. In open
countryside locations, OS2 requires development to be limited to that which requires and is
appropriate for a rural location and which respects the intrinsic character of the area, as well as
comply with the general principles of OS2.

5.11 Policy EH2 of the WOLP also seeks to protect landscape character and ensure that new
development conserves and, where possible, enhances the intrinsic character, quality and distinctive
natural and manmade features of the local landscape.

5.12 Policy EH6 'Decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy development (Excepting wind
turbines)', is also directly relevant. EH6 supports the principle of renewable energy developments
stating that such development should be located and designed to minimise any adverse impacts,
with particular regard to conserving the District's high valued landscape and historic environment. It
also states that in assessing proposals, local issues such as environmental impacts, opportunities for

Page 25



environmental enhancement and potential benefits to host communities need to be considered and
satisfactorily addressed. The policy also refers to detailed guidance published in the 'West
Oxfordshire Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Guidance and Landscape Capacity Study' (2016).

5.13 The NPPF (2024) supports proposals for renewable and low carbon energy, with policies in this
regard having been strengthened in the latest iteration. For example, paragraph 163 states 'the need
to mitigate and adapt to climate change should also be considered in preparing and assessing
planning applications, taking into account the full range of potential climate change impacts'.
Paragraph 168 states that 'when determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon
energy developments and their associated infrastructure, local planning authorities should not
require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable energy and give significant weight
to the benefits associated with renewable and low carbon energy generation and the proposal's
contribution to a net zero future.’

5.14 National Policy Statements ('NPSs'), which make up the planning policy framework for examining
and determining Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects ('NSIPs'), would also form material
considerations in the determination of the planning application even though this scheme is not a
NSIP and as such the NPSs are not directly relevant.

5.15 The Climate Change Act 2008, as amended, sets a legally binding target to reduce net greenhouse
gas emissions from their 1990 level by 100% to reach net zero by 2050. In 2021 the Government
introduced the sixth Carbon Budget which enshrines in law a new target to cut emissions by 78%
by 2035 compared to 1990 levels a new target of 81% was announced in November 2024.

5.16 West Oxfordshire District Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in June 2019 and
the 'West Oxfordshire Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Guidance and Landscape Capacity

Study' (2016) recognises that solar energy can help meet targets for reducing carbon emissions and
increase energy security.

5.17 There have been a number of Government policy statements and commitments produced in
relation to energy and climate change in recent years. These include the Net Zero Strategy: Build
Back Greener (2021), which sets an ambition for the UK to be powered entirely by clean energy by
2035, subject to security of supply.

5.18 In December 2024, the Government released their Clean Power 2030 Action Plan which sets out
the pathway to achieving the government's goal of delivering at least 95% of Great Britain's
generation through clean power by 2030. The Action Plan recognises that solar plays a key role in
this target, requiring a substantial increase in installed capacity of both solar and battery
infrastructure in a short timeframe. This is against the background of a predicted 40-60% increase in
demand. In July 2024, a Written Ministerial Statement was made by the Deputy Prime Minister and
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, referring to boosting the
delivery of renewables, which it described as 'critical to meeting the Government's commitment to
zero carbon electricity generation.'

5.19 There is also a need to reduce reliance on imported fossil fuels in the interests of energy security
and to ensure less volatile energy prices for UK consumers. The British Energy Security Strategy
(2022) sets out the strategy to achieve this. It notes the expectation of increasing solar power
fivefold by 2035. It also sets out the support for solar co-located with other functions such as
battery storage to maximise the efficiency of land use.

Page 26



5.20 The PDAS outlines that it is estimated that the solar panels would generate around 35 MW of
renewable energy - enough electricity to power approximately 17,4521 Oxfordshire homes and
offsetting 44,254 tonnes of CO2 per year. These benefits would accord with the NPPF's renewable
energy provisions, which indicate that the delivery of renewable, low carbon energy is central to
the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. In the context of
the above policy and legislative context, your officers consider that the principle of development in
this instance to provide renewable energy generation and supporting infrastructure is therefore
supportable. These benefits need to be weighed against the impacts of the development, as
considered in more detail below.

Use of agricultural land

5.21 The National Planning Practice Guidance ('PPG') (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy) sets out the
particular planning considerations that relate to large scale ground-mounted solar PV farms,
including referencing to landscape and visual impact, heritage assets and greenfield land. Where a
proposal involves greenfield land, the LPA will need to consider, whether (i) the proposed use of
any agricultural land has been shown to be necessary and poorer quality land has been used in
preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the proposal allows for continued agricultural use and/or
encourages biodiversity improvements around arrays. The NPPF advises that the best and most
versatile agricultural land is land within grades |, 2 and 3a of the agricultural land classification and
seeks to steer development of this nature towards less productive land.

5.22 An Agricultural Land Classification survey has identified that 87.7% of the Site (or 86.7 ha) is classed
as Grade 3b (not Best and Most Versatile (BMV) Agricultural Land), 5.5% or 5.4 ha is Grade 3a
(BMV land), 4.3% or 4.3 ha is Grade 4 (non-BMV land), and 2.5% or 2.5 ha is non-agricultural. As
such, a small portion of the site (5.4ha) is classified as Grade 3a. WOLP Policy EH6 requires some
form of compelling evidence to justify the use of BMV agricultural land and a Site Selection Report
is submitted in support of the application. Officers have considered this report and conclude that
due consideration to the use of previously developed land and lower grade agricultural land has
been demonstrated, and that in national, regional, and local terms it is not considered that this
development would have an adverse impact on the loss of the 'best and most versatile' land.

Impact on the landscape character/visual amenities of the area

5.23 Policy EH2 of the WOLP also seeks to protect landscape character and ensure that new
development conserves and, where possible, enhances the intrinsic character, quality and distinctive
natural and man-made features of the local landscape. Policy EH6 outlines that renewable energy
developments should be located and designed to minimise any adverse impacts.

5.24 Policy EH 13 of the WOLP relates to historic landscape character and sets out the matters which
particular attention will be paid to in determining applications that affect the historic character of
the landscape. These include:

e the age, distinctiveness, rarity, sensitivity and capacity of the particular historic landscape or
townscape characteristics affected

e the extent to which key historic features resonant of the area's character, such as hedgerows,
watercourses and woodland, will be retained or replicated

e the degree to which the form and layout of the development will respect and build on the
preexisting historic character

Page 27



e the degree to which the form, scale, massing, density, height, layout, landscaping, use, alignment
and external appearance of the development conserves or enhances the special historic
character of its surroundings.

5.25 This site lies within the Wychwood Project area where special attention and protection will be
given to the landscape and biodiversity. An objective of the Hailey NP is to seek opportunities for
landscape, recreational and ecological gain whilst minimising the environmental impact of new
development. Policies include the protection of the attractive setting and the separate identities of
the various settlements in the neighbourhood area (E3) and retention of trees (El).

5.26 This site lies within the Wychwood Project area where special attention and protection will be
given to the landscape and biodiversity. An objective of the Hailey NP is to seek opportunities for
landscape, recreational and ecological gain whilst minimising the environmental impact of new
development. Policies include the protection of the attractive setting and the separate identities of
the various settlements in the neighbourhood area (E3) and retention of trees (El).

5.27 The West Oxfordshire Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Guidance and Landscape Capacity
Study refers to the 'Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Energy Assessment and Strategy for West
Oxfordshire' prepared by LDA Design in October 2016. This report states that, 'in general terms,
there is significant potential for further solar farm development in the district subject to careful
consideration of individual development proposals'. The report states that very few constraints exist
in West Oxfordshire and those that do, such as public rights of way, woodland and rivers, cover a
small portion of the district, although sites on best and most versatile agricultural land are likely to
be heavily constrained by that fact. Officers note that the site is within the 'More Suitable' area for
solar farms.

5.28 At the national level the development site is located within the National Character Area ('NCA")
107 Cotswolds. At a county scale, the 'Oxfordshire Wildlife and Landscape Study' (‘(OWLS') places
the site within the Settled Ancient Pastures Landscape Character Area |4. It is described as a 'small
scale settled landscape with a rolling topography, characterised mainly by a pattern of pasture fields
bordered by mature hedgerow trees." The 'West Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment' (1998)
('WOLA) considers landscape character at a district scale placing the Site within the Landscape
Character Area ('LCA") 7 - Wychwood Uplands. The site occupies a location below the otherwise
elevated and expansive limestone wolds with long sweeping views from high ground. It sits lower
where it is locally influenced by field pattern and landcover to convey a smaller scale that is a more
intimate landscape than the wider more open and elevated wolds of the LCA. It enjoys a setting that
is more wooded, and is pock marked with copses, plantations, woodlands and other woody features
set within an irregular field pattern. At a finer scale the site is located within the 'semi-enclosed
limestone wolds landscape type' ('LT'). Key characteristics of this Landscape type are:

e Gently rolling farmland occupying the elevated limestone plateau and dipslope:

e Mixed land use and field pattern, with a patchwork of large arable fields and more frequent
pasture and smaller-scale fields with irregular, sinuous boundaries;

e Strong structure of dry-stone walls and hedgerows with frequent mature hedgerow trees,
particularly of oak and ash;

e Ash, oak, hazel, field maple etc, conspicuous in hedgerows;

e Semi-enclosed character with views contained by hedgerow structure and frequent blocks or
belts of woodland;

e Diverse and pastoral character; and

e Moderate intervisibility.

Page 28



5.29 The submitted PDAS outlines that the revised proposals have sought to address the concerns
previously raised in terms of landscape and visual impacts by incorporating increased screening at
the boundaries of the site, including design amendments to increase the width of the no
development buffer and woodland block to the west of field 4 and reintroduce historic filed
boundaries in fields | and 3 in combination with a woodland block to screen the proposals from the
PRoW to the north.

5.30 A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment ('LVIA") is submitted with the application. In terms of
impact on landscape character, the LVIA concludes that the proposal is ‘temporary and reversible'
and represents highly localised development that would not adversely affect the characteristics of
the larger scale landscape character areas, in this case the NCA. The LVIA also demonstrates that
the proposal shares no intervisibility with the Cotswolds National Landscape and would not give rise
to any impact on its setting.

5.31 At a more local level, the LVIA find that the site 'does not align' with the key characteristics of the
Wychwood Uplands LCA (as identified in the WOLA) and concludes that the proposal will not
adversely affect the four identified principal factors that potentially threaten landscape quality of the
LCA. The LVIA finds that the proposal would 'give rise to a Low magnitude of change upon the
character of the LCA combined with a Medium sensitivity resulting in a significance of effect of
Moderate/ Minor Adverse (temporary, reversible) at year one following construction' reducing to
'Minor Adverse' after 10 years.

5.32 At a finer scale, as set out above, the site lies within the 'semi-enclosed limestone wolds (small
scale)' LT. The effects at this scale are summarised in Table 4 of the LVIA, which finds that the
proposal would 'give rise to a Medium/ Low magnitude of change upon the character of the LT
combined with a Medium sensitivity resulting in a significance of effect of Moderate - Moderate/
Minor Adverse (temporary, reversible) at year one' reducing to 'Moderate/ Minor Adverse' by year
ten.

5.33 Overall, the LVIA finds an effect on the receiving landscape of 'Moderate - Major/ Moderate
Adverse' (temporary, reversible) at year one falling to 'Moderate Adverse' (temporary, reversible)
by year ten, becoming neutral to beneficial in the long term (following removal of the development).

5.34 The LVIA also contains assessment of visual effects (summarised at Table 6). This finds that any
effects arising are limited to public locations close to or within the site for the following reasons:

Visual containment with no middle or longer distance views;

Panels would sit low in the landscape and set in vegetation framework of hedgerows;
Proposed mitigation measures.

Views of whole site not possible at any one time;

5.35 Officers have commissioned an independent review ('IR") of the submitted LVIA by Lepus
Consulting in order to scrutinise its findings. The IR broadly supports the findings of the LVIA with
regard to landscape effects, aside from stating that the LVIA underestimates the effects of the
proposal at a national and county level, which are considered 'negligible' rather than 'none' due to
the size of the site.

5.36 In terms of visual effects, the IR recommended seeking further clarification on the classification of
visual effects (e.g. from viewpoints 2, 5, || and 12) as well as assessing cumulative effects resulting

Page 29



from the proposed residential-led mixed use development at the North Witney SDA (ref.
24/00482/0OUT). A Landscape & Visual Response Note has been prepared by the applicant in
response, which clarifies that the proposed development can be incorporated, without significant
long term cumulative effects in relation to SDA upon the semi-enclosed Limestone Wolds LCT.

5.37 Your officers are therefore satisfied that the submitted LVIA has accurately assessed the potential
landscape and visual effects of the development. With regard to the changes made to the application
since the refused application, your officers note that significant reductions to the extent of panels
have been incorporated in field I. This has involved re-siting panels away from the north east corner
of the site, allowing for the reintroduction of historic field boundaries, greater undeveloped buffer
and structural landscape enhancements. The layout of panels in field 3 has also seen significant
amendments with panels removed in the north western portion of the field and the introduction of
hedgerow planting and woodland on the northern boundary.

5.38 Further changes include the removal of panels from the western edge of field 4, as well as landscape
buffer and woodland planting along the site boundary. These layout and landscaping changes
significantly reduce the extent of built form and provide the opportunity for structural landscaping
interventions to help assimilate the development into its landscape context. The proposal also
includes an increased set back of panels from New Yatt Road and proposed tree belt to further
strengthen screening from road users, as well as an increased set back along the eastern edge of
field 7 and increased undeveloped buffers across the site between panels and field boundaries.

5.39 Your officers consider that the application has therefore demonstrated that appropriate mitigation
measures are included within the scheme and amendments made to reduce adverse landscape and
visual impacts since the refused application. On this basis, whilst the proposal would result in
landscape and visual harm and thus conflict in part with Policies EH2 and EH 13, the impacts of the
scheme would be contained to a site and localised level and the proposal has sought to minimise and
mitigate any adverse impacts in accordance with WOLP Policy EHé.

Impact of heritage assets

5.40 The Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 Section 66(1) requires special
regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest it possesses while section 72(1) requires special attention to be
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation
areas. Policies EH9, EHI0, EHI | and EHI3 of the WOLP reflect these duties.

5.41 Section 16 of the NPPF (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) is also an important
material consideration in this assessment and states that in determining applications, LPAs should
take account of the desirability of sustaining or enhancing the significance of heritage assets.
Paragraph 212 states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, such as a listed building or conservation area, great
weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater
the weight should be). Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from
its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and
convincing justification (paragraph 213). Paragraph 215 states that where a development proposal
will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm
should harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

Main elements contributing to the significance of designated heritage assets

Page 30



5.42 The site lies to the East of the Hailey Conservation Area ('CA'), within which there are several
listed buildings including Swanhall Farmhouse, a Grade |l listed building that lies closest to the site.
Downhill Farmhouse (located to the south west of the site) and Middlefield Farmhouse (located to
the South) are also Grade Il Listed.

5.43 With regard to the significance of designated heritage assets, the Grade Il Listed Swanhall
Farmhouse is considered to derive its significance principally from the following factors:

e lts architectural and historic interest as a distinctive example of agricultural architecture and
farming practices;

e |ts setting including wider Swanhall Farm complex, including later agricultural buildings,
courtyards, gardens and boundaries and gate piers;

e Some areas of the surrounding agricultural land which share historical associations with the
listed building

5.44 In terms of the CA, its significance is charted in the Hailey Conservation Area Character Appraisal.
Its distinctive settlement pattern, comprised of Delly End, Middletown and Poffley End demonstrates
its historical development. Built form is overwhelmingly vernacular with |17th and 18th centuries,
built of local grey, limestone employed in coursed rubble commonplace. Its historical relationship
with surrounding countryside exemplifies the importance of agriculture in the village's development,
with views into and out of the settlement highlighted in the appraisal.

Contribution of the site to the significance of designated heritage assets

5.45 Officers note that the historic landscape setting of the above heritage assets forms a positive
contribution to their significance by way of setting and understanding the historical development of
the village and the importance of agriculture, as demonstrated by high quality vernacular buildings
such as the listed farmhouse. Officers also recognise that some fields have been included in the CA
designation, where they have a close relationship with the buildings of special interest. The site
therefore forms a positive contribution to the setting and understanding of heritage assets, whilst
recognising it is not itself subject to statutory protection.

Impact of the proposal upon the significance of designated heritage assets

5.46 In terms of impact on heritage assets, this has been fully considered by Officers, including the
Council's Conservation Officer ('CO'), who also reviewed the refused application. In terms of
changes made to address the previous refusal, the CO notes that some of the panels in the most
sensitive area of the site have been removed and a buffer/screening provided. The HS states with
regard to listed assets:

"The site is separated from the asset by agricultural land, and is partially screened from it by
vegetation, topography and buildings. The central northern area of the site has limited intervisibility
with the rear of the farmhouse, and is likely to be visible from it, although proposed planting is likely
to heavily filter if not entirely screen the visibility of the scheme. Some parts of this area were
historically associated with the asset, although this functional association has now ceased.'

5.47 The impact on the CA officers anticipate heavily filtered intervisibility with Poffley End. The HS
concludes that 'taking into account the entirety of the Conservation Area, the ways in which it

Page 31



derives its significance, and the mitigation planting, the proposed development will cause less than
substantial harm at the low end of the spectrum to the Conservation Area'.

5.48 The CO concludes that the changes made since the previous refusal, particularly layout changes to
fields | and 4, would successfully mitigate the level of harm previously identified and concurs with
the conclusions of the HS. Therefore, the CO has withdrawn objection to the scheme subject to
planning condition for details of fencing/acoustic fencing. Your officers have considered imposing a
condition in this regard however conclude that the great majority of the fencing would be wire on
timber posts, other than where increased security is required. On this basis, the proposal is
considered to have minimised the impact in this regard. The impact of the proposed development
upon the significance of designated heritage assets is therefore considered to fall at the lower end of
'less than substantial' harm in the terms of the NPPF.

Impact on non-designated heritage assets

5.49 In terms of non-designated assets, officers note the approach taken in the submitted Heritage
Statement (‘HS') with regard to historic (unlisted) buildings within the Swanhall Farm complex and
agree that any harm would be minor. Previous research has also identified a non-designated section
of the North Oxfordshire Grim's Ditch within the northern area of the Site and a walkover survey
identified a ditched feature, likely a surviving earthwork section of Grim's Ditch within a least one
field within the Site. Grim's Ditch is thought to date to the later Iron Age and/or Romano-British
period and Historic England (2022) consider any upstanding sections of the Grim's Ditch to be of
High importance. As such there is judged to be High potential for further prehistoric and Romano-
British remains to survive within the Site, especially around Grim's Ditch. The application has been
subject to consultation with the County Archaeologist, who has raised no objection to the scheme
subject to the imposition of planning conditions.

Heritage balance

5.50 Having identified less than substantial harm to the significance of designated heritage assets, to
which great weight must be applied, the balancing exercise set out under Paragraph 215 of the NPPF
must be undertaken whereby the public benefits of the scheme are weighed against the heritage
harms. In this case, the harm identified is considered to fall towards the lower end of less than
substantial in the terms of the NPPF. The public benefits of the scheme are considered to principally
result from the low carbon method of energy generation proposed and associated battery
infrastructure. Given the scale of the scheme and policy context as outlined above, significant weight
should be awarded to this benefit. Significant positive weight should also be awarded to delivery of
ecological enhancements in excess of the minimum statutory requirement (as will be covered below).
The Limited weight should also be awarded to the economic impacts of the scheme during
construction. In this case and given the low level of heritage harm identified, whilst applying great
weight to this harm, the public benefits resulting from the scheme are considered to outweigh the
heritage harm and this heritage balance falls in favour of the application.

Highway issues
5.51 The same highway access would be utilised for construction and operation. Access to the site
would be via New Yatt Road, which runs through the site and gives access to both the western and

eastern parcels of land. The site access will link to a network of internal tracks around the solar site.
A Construction Traffic Management Plan ('CTMP') has been submitted with the application, which

Page 32



proposed that construction traffic will gain access to the application site via the A4095, Common
Road, Park Road and New Yatt Road.

5.52 The submitted Transport Statement concludes that during the operational phase of the
development, there would be a minimal increase in traffic volumes with operational traffic (one van)
expected to access the application site on two occasions per month at the most. The construction
phase of the proposed development would lead to a temporary increase in traffic on the roads
mentioned above. This submission includes a Construction Traffic Management Plan which provides
details of the expected vehicle movements associated with the construction of the solar farm which
are 12 HGVs per day for the first 5 week period reducing to 4 per day for the remaining 19 to 31
weeks. The document proposes operational time for deliveries of 8 am to 6pm however OCC
Transport have stated that this should be amended to the site not accepting or releasing delivery
vehicles between 8 and 9 am and 2.45 and 3.45 pm, this is to avoid the period where North Leigh
Primary pupils will be travelling to and from school. The delivery route via Common Road leads to
New Yatt Road where there are a number of single width sections of carriageway with limited
visibility. It is likely that traffic management, for instance in the form of temporary traffic lights will be
required, particularly for the initial period of higher HGV movements. A condition requiring an
updated CTMP is therefore recommended.

5.53 Officers consider that the anticipated increase in HGV traffic of eight movements daily can be
mitigated through construction management, including ensuring these trips occur outside of typical
peak traffic hours. There are no residual traffic impacts identified. In conclusion, the proposed
development provides an opportunity to provide new, non-carbon energy generating facilities at a
location which can be safely accessed by construction and operational vehicles and at which the
temporary traffic impact during construction would be de minimis. Traffic management measures can
be put in place to reduce or avoid potential residual impacts arising from road traffic during the
temporary 24-week construction period.

5.54 In response to the decision to defer the application at the previous meeting, a Transport Technical
Note (‘'TN') has been issued for review by the Committee. The TN appraises the following routes:

Construction Access Route | via New Yatt Road (and via Common Road);
Route 2 via B4022 North;

Route 3 via B4022 South; and

Hailey Road Farm Access

5.55 The TN concludes that 'due to limitations identified and significantly greater distance for
construction vehicles to travel on Construction Access Routes 2 and 3, as well as limited third-party
land access between the public highway and Application Site for the alternative B4022 access, the
most viable and suitable route for construction traffic to route remains on Construction Access
Route I.'

5.56 Your Officers, as well as OCC Transport recognise the followings benefits of Route | in
comparison to alternative routes:

e Route | is the shortest route to the major road network and has constraints that are quite

defined and therefore easier to mitigate/manage whereas the constraints on the other routes
are more spread out

Page 33



e Route 2 would measure |5.5km off the major road network and increase the burden of
enforceability;

e Route 2 would travel through several villages, including the centre of Charlbury, Finstock and
Ramsden;

e Route 2 would be required to manoeuvre through two junctions (B4022/Enstone Road/Nine
Acres Lane crossroads junction and B4022/VWoodstock Road junction) that may require
temporary mitigation measures;

¢ Route 3 would be of greater length than Route | (4.6km);

e Route 3 would require HGVs to cross the double mini-roundabout junction between the A4095
and B4022 within the centre of Witney which would require temporary signalisation and result
in significant disruption to the Town's road network;

e Route 3- New Yatt Lane, Hatfield Pits Lane and Hemplands are narrow and considered less
suitable than Construction Access Route |; and

e The previous application was not refused on highways grounds and the impacts in this regard
would be directly comparable

5.57 OCC Transport raise no objection to the application but have suggested that the applicant
considers the following variants to Route 2:

e Charlbury to the A44 via the B4437 as an alternative to further north on the A44 at Neat
Enstone
e Bypassing Ramsden by continuing south on the B4022 to Poffley End (effectively joining route 3)

5.58 Officers note that this route would bypass the B4022/Enstone Road/Nine Acres Lane crossroads
junction and Ramsden but remains a significant detour and would use New Yatt Lane, Hatfield Pits
Lane and Hemplands. Further updates will be provided in the late representations report and
verbally once an amended TN and written OCC Transport comments have been received.

Biodiversity

5.59 Policy EH3 of the local plan seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity in the district to achieve an
overall net gain in biodiversity and minimise impacts on geodiversity. This includes protecting and
mitigating for impacts on priority habitats, protected species and priority species, both for their
importance individually and as part of a wider network, and that all developments retaining features
of biodiversity value on site and incorporating biodiversity enhancement features.

5.60 The application is also subject to statutory Biodiversity Net Gain ('BNG') requirements. The
application submission includes an Ecological Appraisal, Pre and Post Development Habitat Plans
and Statutory Biodiversity Metric. A Technical Note in response to the initial comments of the
Biodiversity Officer ('BO') has also been provided.

BNG

5.61 The BO has confirmed that the proposal is capable of exceeding statutory requirements with
regard to delivery of BNG on site, subject to the imposition of planning conditions as well as
monitoring fee to be paid to the council. A 105.18% in area habitat units, 28.6% in hedgerow units
and 23.85% in watercourse units would be provided by the proposal. Officers proposed to secure
the £15,000 monitoring fee via S.106 agreement should members endorse the recommendation.

Page 34



Bats

5.62 Artificial light is not required at the site as the CCTV cameras will make use of infra-red LED lights
only, which the BO has confirmed will have no impact on foraging or commuting bats. A small
number of targeted motion-sensor lights will be installed for emergency maintenance purposes
around inverters and batteries. A sensitive lighting strategy (including during construction) will be
secured by planning conditions.

5.63 The BO has also confirmed that with regard to the issue of noise from the inverters and batteries,
the distance from boundary features is sufficient to ensure no adverse impact on bats.

Great Crested Newts ('GCN')

5.64 The council's district licence is being used for great crested newts and a NatureSpace District
Licence Report dated 7th October 2024 (ref. 202308045) has been submitted with the application.
The planning conditions and informatives contained within this report must be attached to planning
permission to allow the council to subsequently authorise the applicant to work under the council's
licence.

Skylark mitigation

5.65 The Outline Skylark Mitigation Strategy (ref. edp7494_r008a) confirms the following numbers of
territories during surveys in 2022 and 2024:

e 24 territories identified in 2022 survey, |14 of these on site and 10 within the offsite mitigation
area

o |0 territories identified onsite in the 2024 survey and 8 territories within the offsite mitigation
area

5.66 The BO has confirmed that the application would have an acceptable impact in this regard subject
to a final skylark mitigation strategy being secured via planning condition.

Trees

5.67 The proposal includes an Arboricultural Impact Assessment which details minimal removal of
vegetation (only small areas to facilitate the internal access track) and measures to ensure sufficient
buffers to boundary vegetation and trees are retained. Further, a comprehensive landscaping
scheme can be secured by way of condition such that landscaping enhancement as proposed are
delivered, thereby providing a strengthened landscape structure to assimilate the development into
the landscape and provide biodiversity improvements.

Flooding and drainage

5.68 The Applicant has submitted a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy as part of the
submission. The site falls within Flood Zone | and is at low risk of flooding from rivers and the sea.
The proposals constitute 'Essential Infrastructure' and are appropriate in Flood Zone |. The site is
not considered to be at risk of flooding from fluvial, tidal, groundwater, sewers, reservoirs, or
other artificial sources. The risk of flooding from surface water and the network of ordinary
watercourses is generally very low across the site. All vulnerable infrastructure is in areas shown to
be at very low risk of surface water flooding. Containerised infrastructure such as inverters, cabins

Page 35



and battery storage will be constructed with a granular base to ensure runoff is encouraged to
infiltrate into ground, as per the existing site. The cessation of intensive agriculture across the site
will allow establishment of natural grassland and a commensurate improvement in soil structure.
This will reduce runoff rates and volumes, soil erosion and pollution. Further works would provide
additional betterment in terms of flood risk and water quality. It is proposed to install leaky dams to
mobilise storage within the channel, decrease flood risk downstream and provide biodiversity
benefits. Riparian buffers will be established alongside the watercourse and fenced off to prevent
access by livestock. The FRA concludes that for these reasons, the proposed development is
considered to be acceptable and in compliance with planning policy in terms of flood risk and
drainage.

5.69 The County Council, as the Local Lead Flood Authority, has raised no objection to the application,
subject to the imposition of a planning conditions.

Other Matters

5.70 A Glint and Glare study has been undertaken to assess the possible effects of glint and glare from
the proposed development. The assessment pertains to the possible impact upon road safety,
residential amenity, and aviation activity. No significant impacts are predicted upon road safety,
residential amenity, or aviation activity. Therefore, no mitigation is recommended.

5.71 A Noise Impact Assessment has been submitted in support of the application, as well as specific
assessment of piling noise. The Environmental Health Officer has reviewed this information and has
no objection to the application subject to a condition restricting construction hours.

5.72 As reported in the Additional Representations Report prior to the previous meeting, with regard
to the High Court judgment in R (Galloway) v Durham County Council [2024] EWHC 367, your
officers note that the decision-maker must considered whether the footprint of the proposed solar
panels is larger than required for a solar farm of that capacity (‘overplanting'). Overplanting is a
term used to describe the situation in which the maximum installed generating capacity of the solar
generation facility is larger than facility's grid connection would allow. In this regard, your officers
have reviewed Appendix 2 of the PDAS and consider that the degree of overplanting in this case
has been clearly and reasonably justified, having regard to the constraints and context of the
application site.

Conclusion and planning balance

5.73 As set out above, the proposed development would harm the character and appearance of the
surrounding landscape and less than substantial harm to the setting of designated heritage assets.
Your officers attach significant weight to these matters whilst acknowledging that the landscape and
visual harms would be limited and localised. It is also recognised that the application proposal has
sought to minimise and mitigate any adverse impacts in accordance with WOLP Policy EH6. The
resultant impacts on heritage assets would constitute a low level of less than substantial harm,
which has been found to be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme in the initial heritage
balance and has not drawn objection from the CO. Therefore, there would be no conflict with
heritage-related policies in the development plan or NPPF.

5.74 Conversely, the scheme would result in significant economic, social and environmental benefits

through the low carbon method of energy generation proposed, resulting in 35 MW of renewable
energy and offsetting 44,254 tonnes of CO2 per year. This includes the generation of renewable

Page 36



energy and a consequent reduction in carbon emissions, supporting the county and country in
meeting national and local targets on renewable energy and carbon emissions, providing additional
employment and ecological enhancements in excess of the minimum statutory requirements. Your
officers also recognise that the proposal includes facilities for Battery Energy Storage, which
facilitates a time-shift in the consumption of previously generated energy in order to successfully
address demand. This also attracts significant positive weight in this balance. These extensive
benefits are considered sufficient to outweigh the landscape and heritage harms. Despite partial
conflict with the development plan with regard to landscape and visual impact, the proposal is
therefore considered to accord with the provisions of the development plan as a whole and the
above policy and legislative context with regard to renewable energy development, which provides
material considerations adding weight to the conclusion that the application should be approved.
The application is therefore recommended for provisional approval subject to the signing of a S.106
agreement in order to cover BNG monitoring costs.

6 CONDITIONS

I. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004.

2. That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed below.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted.

3. The permission hereby granted shall expire 40 years from the date when electrical power is first
exported (‘first export date') from the solar farm to the electricity network, excluding
electricity exported during initial testing and commissioning. Written confirmation of the first
export date shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority no later than one calendar month
after the event.

REASON: In the interests of landscape character and visual amenity to accord with the NPPF.

4. Should the solar panels not be used continuously for the production of energy for a period of
six months, the panels, supports, inverters, cables, buildings and all associated structures and
fencing shall be removed in their entirety and the land shall be restored to its former condition
in accordance with a scheme of work submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

REASON: To prevent the retention of development in the countryside that is not being used for its
intended purpose in the interests of landscape character and visual amenity.

5. Not less than 12 months before the cessation of the development hereby permitted, a
Decommissioning Method Statement (DMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The Decommissioning Method Statement shall include details of
the removal of the panels, supports, inverters, cables, buildings and all associated structures and
fencing from the site, the results of an updated ecological assessment and mitigation strategy,
and a timetable. The DMS shall also include details of the proposed restoration. The site shall

Page 37



be decommissioned in full accordance with the approved DMS and timetable within 12 months
of the expiry of the planning permission.

REASON: In the interests of landscape character, and visual amenity and to safeguard biodiversity
during decommission.

6. All electrical cabling between the solar panel rows and the on-site connection buildings shall be
located underground and the excavated ground shall be reinstated to its former condition.

REASON: In the interests of landscape character and visual amenity.

7. No works shall commence on site other than those required by this condition until the site
access points and associated visibility splays have been provided in accordance with approved
drawings 2201066-TK02 C and 2201066-TKO| C. The visibility splays shall then be maintained
as such for the duration of the construction period.

REASON: In order to provide safe and suitable access to the site.

8. No construction activity shall take place outside the following hours, unless otherwise first
agreed in writing by the local planning authority:

e 08:00 to 18:00 on Monday to Friday
08:00 to 13:00 on Saturday

No construction activities shall be carried out on Sundays or any Public/Bank Holiday.
REASON: In order to safeguard the living conditions of nearby occupiers.

9. All tree protection works shall be carried out in full accordance with the submitted
Arboricultural Impact Assessment dated February 2024 and prepared by Barton Hyett
Associates.

REASON: To ensure the safeguard of features that contribute to the character and landscape of the
area.

10.In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary, a
remediation scheme must be prepared to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended
use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property, and which is
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To prevent pollution of the environment in the interests of the amenity.

I I.Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the
site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme
shall thereafter be implemented full in accordance with the approved details before the first
export date and be retained in place as approved for the duration of the permission. The
scheme shall include following details:

Page 38



e A compliance report to demonstrate how the scheme complies with the "Local
Standards and Guidance for Surface Water Drainage on Major Development in
Oxfordshire";

e Full drainage calculations for all events up to and including the | in 100 year plus
40% climate change;

e A Flood Exceedance Conveyance Plan;

o Comprehensive infiltration testing across the site to BRE DG 365 (if applicable)

e Detailed design drainage layout drawings of the SuDS proposals including cross-
section details;

e Detailed maintenance management plan in accordance with Section 32 of CIRIA
C753 including maintenance schedules for each drainage element, and;

e Details of how water quality will be managed during construction and post
development in perpetuity;

e Confirmation of any outfall details.

e Consent for any connections into third party drainage systems

REASON: To ensure development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; in
accordance with Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Local
and National Standards.

[2. Within 12 months of the first export date, a record of the installed SuDS and site wide drainage
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for
deposit with the Lead Local Flood Authority Asset Register. The details shall include:

a) As built plans in both .pdf and .shp file format;

b) Photographs to document each key stage of the drainage system when installed on site;
c) Photographs to document the completed installation of the drainage structures on site;
d) The name and contact details of any appointed management company information

REASON: To ensure development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; in
accordance with Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Local
and National Standards.

I3.Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction Traffic
Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Thereafter, the development shall not be carried out other than in full accordance
with the approved CTMP.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety and the residential amenities of neighbouring occupiers
and to comply with Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy
Framework.

4. Prior to the commencement of the development, a professional archaeological organisation
acceptable to the Local Planning Authority shall prepare an Archaeological Written Scheme of
Investigation, relating to the application site area, which shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To safeguard the recording of archaeological matters within the site in accordance with
the NPPF (2024).

Page 39



V.

VI.

I5. Following the approval of the Written Scheme of Investigation referred to in condition 14, and
prior to the commencement of the development (other than in accordance with the agreed
Written Scheme of Investigation), a programme of archaeological mitigation shall be carried out
by the commissioned archaeological organisation in accordance with the approved Written
Scheme of Investigation. The programme of work shall include all processing, research and
analysis necessary to produce an accessible and useable archive and a full report for publication
which shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within two years of the completion of
the archaeological fieldwork.

REASON: To safeguard the identification, recording, analysis and archiving of heritage assets before
they are lost and to advance understanding of the heritage assets in their wider context through
publication and dissemination of the evidence in accordance with the NPPF (2024).

|6. The development shall be completed in strict accordance with the ecological
mitigation/enhancement and Biodiversity Net Gain details specified within the following
documents and drawings as submitted with the planning application, as modified by the
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan and unless otherwise agreed with the local planning authority.

Technical Note: Post-Submission Response Regarding Ecological Matters (ref. ep7494_r007a)
dated February 2025;

Ecological Appraisal report dated June 2024 ref. edp7494_r001h (dated 10/06/24) by EDP;
Statutory Biodiversity Metric Calculation Tool v4 dated 06.01.2025 demonstrating increases of
105.18% in area habitat units, 28.6% in hedgerow units and 23.85% in watercourse units;
Pre-development habitat plan ref. edp7494_d013d dated |9 February 2024;

Post-development habitat plan ref. edp7494_d0| 5c (within the ecological appraisal report); and
The location of battery stations and inverters shown on the plan contained within the Noise
Assessment dated June 2024.

REASON: To protect and enhance biodiversity in accordance with Local Plan Policy EH3, paragraphs
187, 192 and 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024), and in order for the
Council to comply with Part 3 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

I 7. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development shall take place (including demolition,
ground works and vegetation clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan -
Biodiversity (CEMP-B) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The CEMP-B shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following:

I.  Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities;

Il. Identification of 'ecological protection zones";

lll.  Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of ecological
construction method statements for specific features and habitats), including the
protection of veteran tree T82 (as labelled in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment or
T3 in the Ecological Appraisal), the retained field margins of modified grassland and
adherence to the approved Skylark Mitigation Strategy;

IV.  The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to ecological features (e.g.
daylight working hours only starting one hour after sunrise and ceasing one hour before

sunset);

Page 40



V.  Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs, including advanced
installation and maintenance during the construction period;

VI. A strategy for the use of lighting during the construction period to minimise light spillage
into adjacent habitats used by bats;

VIl.  The translation of all other specific species and habitat protected or maintenance
requirements recommended in the Ecological Appraisal report dated June 2024 ref.
edp7494_r001h (dated 10/06/24) by EDP and the Technical Note: Post-Submission
Response Regarding Ecological Matters (ref. ep7494_r007a) dated February 2025;

VIII. A non-native invasive species protocol (e.g. for Japanese knotweed);

IX.  The times during construction when specialists ecologists need to be present on site to
oversee works;

X. Responsible persons and lines of communication;

Xl.  The role and responsibilities on site of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) or
similarly competent person(s);

Xll.  Ongoing monitoring, including compliance checks by a competent person(s) during
construction and immediately post-completion of construction works; and

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period
strictly in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: To protect and enhance biodiversity in accordance with Local Plan Policy EH3, paragraphs
187, 192 and 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2024), and in order for the
Council to comply with Part 3 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

I8. A report prepared by a competent ecologist, the Ecological Clerk of Works or similarly
competent person certifying that the required biodiversity mitigation and/or compensation
measures identified in the Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) have been
completed to their satisfaction, and detailing the results of site supervision and any necessary
remedial works undertaken or required, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
approval at the end of the next available planting season following the first export date. Any
approved remedial works shall subsequently be carried out under the strict supervision of a
competent ecologist, Ecological Clerk of Works or similarly competent person following that
approval.

REASON: To ensure that protected and priority species (bats, great crested newts/amphibians,
reptiles, hedgehogs, nesting birds) and priority habitats (including hedgerows) are safeguarded in
accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 as amended, The Hedgerow Regulations 1997, Circular 06/2005, paragraphs
187, 192 and 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and Local Plan Policy EH3, and in
order for the Council to comply with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.

19. Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to the commencement of development, a
detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme (incorporating existing flora) including the means of
enclosure and the materials to be used for hard surfacing, and details of all habitats in
accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan and the associated post-development
habitat plan (current ref. edp7494_dOI5c and any approved modified version) shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include, but not
necessarily be limited to, the following:

Page 41



Il.
M.
IV.
V.
VL.
VII.

VIIL.

A plan showing the existing vegetation/habitats to be retained and safeguarded during
construction which shall be consistent with any Construction Environmental
Management Plan for the development;

A landscaping implementation phasing plan, where appropriate;

A clearly labelled drawing showing all habitats to be created, retained and enhanced as
part of the Biodiversity Net Gain proposals, and in accordance with the approved
Biodiversity Gain Plan and Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan;

Detailed planting / sowing specifications including species, size, density spacing,
cultivation protection (fencing, staking, guards) and methods of weed control;

Full details of all bird and bat boxes, including a range of types and locations;
Dimensions and locations for mammal gaps through/under security/boundary fencing;
Details of other features for species, including enhancements of ditches and ponds for
amphibians and reptiles; and
Details of surfacing, boundary treatments and landscaping structures including design,
location, size, colour, materials and openings.

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and landscaping shall be
completed by the end of the next available planting season immediately following the completion of
the development or the site being brought into use, whichever is the earliest.

REASON: to secure full details of the proposed landscaping scheme and to ensure that this is in
accordance with the Biodiversity Net Gain proposals for the site.

20. Before the commencement of the development hereby approved, a Habitat Management and
Monitoring Plan (HMMP) shall be submitted to, and be approved in writing by, the local planning
authority for the lifetime of the development. The content of the HMMP shall include, but not
necessarily be limited, to the following:

Il.
M.
IV.
VI.

VII.

VIII.

IX.

XI.

Full details of all the 'habitat creation and enhancement works' that will be implemented
in accordance with Statutory Biodiversity Metric Calculation Tool v4 dated 06.01.2025,
pre-development habitat plan ref. edp7494_d013d dated 19 February 2024 and post-
development habitat plan ref. edp7494_d015c (within the ecological appraisal report) [in
accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan];

Description and evaluation of habitats and other biodiversity features to be managed;
Aims and objectives of management (including those relating to species);

Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives, including an
adaptive management approach;

Detailed specifications for management actions;

Management schedule matrix based on actions that are required annually, biennially or
another specified timeframe(s);

Details of the management of veteran tree T3 (ecology report) / T82 (arboricultural
assessment);

Details of any natural flood defence management interventions that have been
incorporated into the site;

Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan;

Legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will
be secured by the developer;

Confirmation of the trigger for the 30-year management and monitoring period and
when Year | is expected to commence;

Page 42



Xll.  Monitoring strategy incorporating the identification of potential remedial measures that
may be required within the 30-year period and how these will be confirmed, agreed and
implemented (i.e. where monitoring results show that the aims and objectives of the
HMMP are not being met);

XIlll.  Submission of Habitat Monitoring Reports to the Local Planning Authority for approval
at specific intervals (depending on the types of habitats and the 'time to target condition’
timeframe, but generally following the standard of years I, 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30);

XIV.  Submission of a final audit report to the Local Planning Authority for approval no later
than 12 months following the end of the agreed 30-year period (i.e. within year 31) and
proposals for the continued period of monitoring to cover the remainder of the lifetime
of the development;

XV. A monitoring strategy for protected and priority species, including bats, skylarks and
great crested newts;

XVI.  Details about how the plan will be reviewed according to an adaptive management
approach and shared and agreed with the Local Planning Authority; and
XVIl.  Details of how the aims and objectives of the HMMP will be communicated to all

contractors, managers and subsequent responsible persons, organisation or bodies (e.g.
management company).

The approved plan will be implemented in full according to the agreed timescale.

REASON: To secure the delivery of at least a 10% biodiversity net gain through successful
establishment and management of all newly created and enhanced habitats in accordance with
Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 4 of the
Environment Act 2021), paragraph 187, 192 and 193 of the NPPF, and Local Plan Policy EH3; and

the incorporation of monitoring for species.

21. Notice in writing shall be given to the Local Planning Authority when the habitat creation and
enhancement works (i.e. the capital works required to establish the new habitats) as set out in
the Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) have commenced and the habitat
creation and enhancement works as set out in the HMMP have been completed to agree the
start of the 30-year management and monitoring period.

REASON: To ensure that the council is informed of the implementation of the required habitat
creation and enhancement works to deliver Biodiversity Net Gain.

22. Biodiversity Monitoring Reports shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
approval in accordance with the timeframe in the approved Habitat Management and
Monitoring Plan (HMMP). These reports shall provide full details of the progress being made
towards the Biodiversity Net Gain target set out in the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan and any
remedial actions that need to be carried out to ensure that the target habitat condition will be
achieved. All agreed remedial actions shall be fully implemented. A Final Biodiversity Net Gain
Audit Report shall be submitted to the LPA for approval no later than 12 months following the
end of the agreed 30-year period (i.e. in Year 31).

REASON: to ensure the success of the Biodiversity Net Gain proposals and the submission of

regular monitoring reports to the LPA with remedial actions implemented where necessary and to
enable the LPA to report to Defra on Biodiversity Net Gain.

Page 43



23. Notwithstanding the submitted details, before commencement of the development hereby
approved a final Skylark Mitigation Strategy shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall be based on the Outline Skylark Mitigation Strategy
and approved Biodiversity Gain Plan details. The approved strategy shall thereafter be fully
implemented in accordance with a timeline as set out in the Skylark Mitigation Strategy.

REASON: to provide adequate mitigation and compensation for skylarks (priority species) in
accordance with paragraphs 187, 192 and 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024),
Policy EH3 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and in order for the Council to comply with
Part 3 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as amended).

24. No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Council's Organisational Licence (WML-OR150, or a 'Further Licence') and
with the proposals detailed on plan "University Farm: Impact plan for great crested newt
District Licensing (Version 4)", dated 3rd October 2024.

REASON: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately mitigated
and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the Organisational Licence
(WML-ORI50, or a 'Further Licence'), section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework,
Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

25. Delivery Partner (as set out in the District Licence WML-ORI50, or a 'Further Licence'),
confirming that all necessary measures regarding great crested newt compensation have been
appropriately dealt with, has been submitted to and approved by the planning authority and the
authority has provided authorisation for the development to proceed under the district newt
licence.

The delivery partner certificate must be submitted to this planning authority for approval prior to
the commencement of the development hereby approved.

REASON: In order to adequately compensate for negative impacts to great crested newts, and in
line with section |5 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

26.No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with Part | of the
Great Crested Newt Mitigation Principles, as set out in the District Licence (WML-ORI50, or a
'Further Licence') and, in addition, in compliance with the following:

I.  Works to existing ponds onsite may only be undertaken during autumn/winter, unless
otherwise in accordance with the Great Crested Newt Mitigation Principles.

II.  Works which will affect likely newt hibernacula may only be undertaken during the
active period for amphibians.

lll.  Capture methods must be used at suitable habitat features prior to the commencement
of the development (i.e., hand/destructive/night searches), which may include the use of
temporary amphibian fencing, to prevent newts moving onto a development site from
adjacent suitable habitat, installed for the period of the development (and removed
upon completion of the development).

V. Amphibian fencing and pitfall trapping must be undertaken at suitable habitats and
features, prior to commencement of the development.

Page 44



REASON: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately mitigated
and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the Organisational Licence
(WML-ORI50, or a 'Further Licence'), section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework,
Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

Notes to applicant

IMPORTANT: the statutory Biodiversity Net Gain objective of 10% applies to this planning
permission and development cannot commence until a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been
submitted (as a condition compliance application) to and approved by West Oxfordshire
District Council. The effect of paragraph |3 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed
to have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that
development may not begin unless (a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the
planning authority, and (b) the planning authority has approved the plan. Advice about how to
prepare a Biodiversity Gain Plan and a template can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/submit-a-biodiversity-gain-plan

The Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) required by condition of planning
permission should follow the same structure as the template found here:
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/creating-a-habitat-management-and-monitoring-plan-for-
biodiversity-net-gain

The following informatives apply with regard to the use of the Council's Great Crested Newt
District Licence:

e |tis recommended that the NatureSpace Best Practice Principles are considered and
implemented where possible and appropriate.

e |tis recommended that the NatureSpace certificate is submitted to this planning
authority at least 6 months prior to the intended commencement of any works on
site.

e It is essential to note that any works or activities whatsoever undertaken on site
(including ground investigations, site preparatory works or ground clearance) prior
to receipt of the written authorisation from the planning authority which permits
the development to proceed under the District Licence (WML-ORI50, or a
'Further Licence') are not licensed under the great crested newt District Licence.
Any such works or activities have no legal protection under the great crested newt
District Licence and if offences against great crested newts are thereby committed
then criminal investigation and prosecution by the police may follow.

e [t is essential to note that any ground investigations, site preparatory works and
ground / vegetation clearance works / activities (where not constituting
development under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) in a red zone site
authorised under the District Licence but which fail to respect controls equivalent
to those detailed in the planning condition above which refers to the NatureSpace
great crested newt mitigation principles would give rise to separate criminal liability
under the District Licence, requiring authorised developers to comply with the

Page 45



District Licence and (in certain cases) with the GCN Mitigation Principles (for which
Natural England is the enforcing authority); and may also give rise to criminal liability
under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and/or the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (for which the Police would
be the enforcing authority).

4 All British bat species, otter and dormouse are protected under The Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended). This protection extends to individuals of the species and their places of shelter
(habitat, roosts), whether occupied or not. If a bat, otter or dormouse (or evidence of these
species) is discovered, then all works must stop until the advice of a professional/suitably
qualified ecologist and Natural England is obtained, including the need for a mitigation licence.

All British birds (while nesting, building nests and sitting on eggs), their nests and eggs (with certain
limited exceptions) are protected by law under Section | of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. Works that will impact
upon active birds' nests should be undertaken outside the breeding season to ensure their
protection, i.e. works should only be undertaken between August and February, or only after
the chicks have fledged from the nest and replacement provision made so that there is no net
loss of biodiversity.

5 In relation to the District Council's Service Level Agreement with the Local Environmental
Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of district-wide biodiversity, all
species and habitat records from the ecological work commissioned by the applicant should be
submitted [if not already] to the Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre (TVERC).

6 For clarity, the CEMP should refer to the GCN Diistrict Licensing Scheme.

Contact Officer: James Nelson
Telephone Number: 01993 861712
Date: |3th May 2025

Page 46



Application Number 25/00244/FUL
Site Address Rainbow Farm
Buckland Road
Bampton
Oxfordshire
OXI18 2AA
Date 13th May 2025
Officer Clare Anscombe
Officer Recommendations Refuse
Parish Bampton Parish Council
Grid Reference 432650 E 202161 N
Committee Date 27th May 2025

Location Map

.-F"'"Fdf
_—Hedgefields

=,
a i
7,
™
|4
i - Farm,
PN )
LWy - .-'-_:-
1 L
I S A
I AR T
1 ol __."l\,a-;.;-‘_
i -
\ o
Yo ,ﬂ--“"’ﬁi
"". 1 et =

© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316

Application Details:
Construction of a detached building for use as a fitness suite and wellness hub, along with associated car
parking facilities and formation of a new access onto the highway

Page 47




Applicant Details:
Amy Dodd

Dodd Fit

Rainbow Farm
Buckland Road
Bampton
Oxfordshire

OX18 2AA

| CONSULTATIONS

Env Health Contamination

OCC Highways

WODC Drainage

District Ecologist

Env Health Noise And Amenity

The proposal is not situated on or near land that has been identified
as being of potential concern with respect to land contamination.
Therefore, | have no objection in relation to land contamination
human health risks from this proposed development and will not be
requesting planning conditions.

No objection, subject to conditions.

G28 parking as plan
G | access specification
G32 turning facility.

Additional information required.
A flood risk assessment is required.

Holding objection due to insufficient information on biodiversity -
further information required.

Objection.

Insufficient information to demonstrate noise will not impact
neighbours.

1) I would request that the applicant submits a site-specific Noise
Impact Assessment (NIA) and a Noise Management Plan. These must
be produced by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant, accredited by
the Institute of Acoustics (IOA) and/or the Association of Noise
Consultants (ANC). The NIA must comprehensively evaluate the
existing noise environment, assess the potential noise impacts arising
from the proposed development, and propose mitigation measures to
ensure full compliance with relevant noise standards.

Professionally accredited acoustic consultants can be sourced using
the weblinks provided:

Page 48



IOA (https://www.ioa.org.uk/find-acoustics-specialist-or-supplier)
ANC (https://www.association-of-noise-consultants.co.uk/sound-
testing-member-companies/)

Guidance is available on noise associated with gyms and can be found
here;

https://www.association-of-noise-consultants.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2023/03/ProPG-Gym-Acoustic-Guidance-
Document.pdf

The applicant would need to consider how they propose to ventilate
the building. If opening doors or windows noise will escape from the
building and could potentially cause adverse impacts to neighbouring
properties. If the applicant is installing any air conditioning then given
the distance to neighbouring properties this can be cited in a position
where there should be no impact to neighbours. If air conditioning is
provided then it should be included in the Noise Management Plan
that door and windows will remain closed to prevent noise escaping
during any noisy activities.

2) | would also recommend that the planning officer considers a
condition to tie the new building and business to the main residential
property to prevent any possible future sale of the premises as a
separate business impacting the residential property.

3) The applicant should also provide a lighting assessment
Lighting scheme

Before the development commences a written scheme shall be
Submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority that
specifies the provisions to be made for the level of illumination of the
site and to control light pollution. The scheme shall be implemented
and maintained for the lifetime of the approved development and shall
not be altered without the prior written approval of the local planning
authority.

Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, in terms of light
pollution especially for people living and/or working nearby, in
accordance with local planning policy.

Informative

The lighting scheme should comply with the Institution of Lighting
Professionals Guidance Note for the reduction of obtrusive light
201 I (or later versions). It should be designed so that it is the
minimum needed for security and operational processes and be
installed to minimise potential pollution caused by glare and spillage.

Page 49



Newt Officer

Parish Council

OCC Minerals (Safeguarded
Areas)

Environment Agency

[lluminated area m2 Zone El Zone E2 Zone E3 Zone E4 Up to 10.00
100 600 800 1000 Over 10.00 n/a 300 600 600

Environmental Zones

Zone Surrounding Lighting Environment Examples

EO Protected Dark UNESCO Starlight Reserves, IDA Dark Sky Parks
El Natural Intrinsically dark National Parks, Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty etc.

E2 Rural Low district brightness Village or relatively dark outer
suburban locations

E3 Suburban Medium district brightness Small town centres or
suburban locations

E4 Urban High district brightness Town/city centres with high levels
of night-time activity

The guidance advises that, where an area to be lit lies on the
boundary of two zones or can be observed from another zone, the
limits used should be those applicable to the most rigorous zone.

Holding objection.

Insufficient information has been provided to assess the likely impacts
on protected species and details of how any impacts will be
avoided/mitigated/compensated for. The habitats on site could
support great crested newts which may be harmed if the development
is approved.

Support.

No objection in principle to the proposed application. We would
expect details of materials, landscape and junction layout to be
submitted and approved by WODC.

No objection.

Objection.

The application site lies within Flood Zone 3, which is land defined by
the planning practice guidance as having a high probability of flooding.
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 181, footnote
63) states that an FRA must be submitted when development is
proposed in such locations. An FRA is vital to making informed
planning decisions. In its absence, the flood risks posed by the
development are unknown. This is sufficient reason for refusing
planning permission.

In the absence of a flood risk assessment (FRA), we object to this
application and recommend that planning permission is refused.

Page 50



2 REPRESENTATIONS

2.1 None received.

3 APPLICANT'S CASE

3.1 In summary, the supporting Design and Access Statement makes the following points:

The Applicant has been running Dodd Fit for a number of years and the business has now
outgrown its current site. Therefore, the Applicant is now looking to construct a new
building on the site of the former equestrian menage to run Dodd Fit, alongside allowing
other specialists such as physiotherapists, therapists to use the site and create a wellness hub.

The proposed building will be of traditional agricultural design, and similar to that of the
stable block (09/1135/P/FP). The proposed building will be 20m x 12.2m, measuring 4.7m to
the eaves and 6.4m to the ridge with a floor area of 244 sqm.

The proposed development meets the criteria set out by the NPPF 2023, in particular
paragraph 88 (a) and 88 (c) which relate to the sustainable growth and expansion of all
businesses in rural areas and sustainable tourist and leisure developments. The proposed
building is a further expansion of Dodd Fit which is a successful business based in the
Bampton area. The proposed building will meet the criteria of 88(c) as it will provide a
leisure development which respects the character of the countryside and appears as an
agricultural building from the outside.

Policy E5 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 supports the development of community
facilities, of which this application is one, and meets local need to promote social wellbeing.
Again, this application meets this criteria and is designed to support people both mentally and
physically.

The Applicant proposes to install a new access onto the highway which will allow two
vehicles to use the access at a single time. There will be a hardcore parking area for up to 10
vehicles to the front of the property (SW).

4 PLANNING POLICIES

OSI Presumption in favour of sustainable development
OS2 Locating development in the right places
OS3 Prudent use of natural resources

OS4 High quality design

E5 Local services and community facilities

E2 Supporting the rural economy

T Sustainable transport

T2 Highway improvement schemes

T3 Public transport, walking and cycling

T4 Parking provision

EH2 Landscape character

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity

NATDES National Design Guide

EH7 Flood risk

Page 51



EH8 Environmental protection

CAS Carterton sub-area strategy
DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide
NPPF 2024

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.
5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT

5.1 This application relates to an existing field/paddock located to the south of Bampton and to the
north-east of Buckland Road. The site includes a small area of hardstanding, a former equestrian
menage which appears to have been installed between 2009 and 2012, and the remainder is a field.
To the north is a stable block and beyond this is open fields and the Shill Brook. To the north-east is
Westmoor Farm and to the south-east is Hedgefields Farm.

5.2 The site lies within flood zone 3, a red zone for great crested newts and a mineral consultation area.

5.3 The proposed development is for the 'construction of a detached building for use as a fitness suite
and wellness hub, along with associated car parking facilities and formation of a new access onto the
highway.' The application is before members because the Officer recommendation is clearly contrary
to the Parish Council's.

Relevant Planning History

W96/1594 - Erection of double garage & store, (modification to planning consent 0636/95).
Approved. 16th December 1996.

W95/0636 - Erection of double garage and store. Approve. 23rd June 1995.

W92/1403 - Removal of condition 4 of planning permission |10/89 for change of occupancy.
Approved.

W89/01 10- Dwelling. Approved. June 1989

W86/1803 - Conversion and extension of barn to form farm shop. Approved. 1987.

5.4 A stable block was granted planning permission on the land in 2009 under ref. 09/1 135/P/FP.
Condition 3 required the building to be used only for purposes ancillary to the occupation of
Rainbow Farm Barn and for the shelter of horses, ponies and donkeys and not for any commercial
purpose to prevent an overly intensive use of the site to the detriment of the character and
appearance of the area.

5.5 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the comments of interested
parties, Officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of this application are:

Principle of development

Landscape and visual impact

Impact on flood risk

Impact on ecology

Impact on highway safety and parking
Impact on amenity

Page 52



Principle

5.6 The proposed building is circa 12.2m (width) x 6.4m (height) x 20m (length). The floorplan
incorporates a gym, space for classes, changing facilities, ancillary office space and a therapy room.
The proposed car park is located in front of the building between the road and building. The ground
levels will be raised. The building is to be used by Dodd Fit for running personal training sessions.
The building will also have individual spaces for use by Pilates and yoga instructors, physiotherapists,
chiropractors alongside therapists.

5.7 Policy OS2 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan (2018) states that development in the small
villages, hamlets and open countryside will be limited to that which requires and is appropriate for a
rural location and which respects the intrinsic character of the area. Proposals to support the
effectiveness of existing businesses will be regarded as appropriate.

5.8 Paragraph 88 of the NPPF (2024) states that planning decisions should enable:

a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both through
conversion of existing buildings and well-designed, new buildings;

b) the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses;

c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of the
countryside; and

d) the retention and development of accessible local services and community facilities, such as local
shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of
worship.

5.9 Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states: 'Planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites to meet
local business and community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond
existing settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In these
circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to its surroundings, does
not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits any opportunities to make a location
more sustainable (for example by improving the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public
transport). The use of previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-related to existing
settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.'

5.10 Policy E5 of the adopted WOLP states that 'the Council will support the development and
retention of local services and community facilities to meet local needs and to promote social
wellbeing, interests, interaction and healthy inclusive communities.' Policy E2 of the adopted WOLP
states that new buildings not adjacent to service centres and the villages listed in table 4b will be
allowed where required for diversification proposals which are fully integrated with an existing farm
business or where they meet a specific business need which cannot otherwise be met in a more
sustainable location... Any new building(s) must be suitably located for the scale and type of the
proposed use and have regard to the level of accessibility to settlements, facilities and services and
impact on the character and amenity of the area.'

5.11 Policy CAS states that the focus of new housing, supporting facilities and additional employment
opportunities will be Carterton. New development in the rest of the subarea will be limited to
meeting local community and business needs and will be steered towards the rural service centre
and larger villages.

Page 53



5.12 Dodds Fit currently operates from an existing barn at Rainbow Farm. However, the proposal
would not expand an existing business because the barn does not appear to have planning
permission for use as a fitness suite. The proposal does not make use of an existing building. The
site lies in an open countryside location with the stretch of Buckland Road to Bampton having
sections of no pedestrian footpath and being unlit. No cycle parking is proposed. Therefore, Officers
consider that the site cannot be safely and conveniently accessed by foot or cycle. There is also no
access to public transport. Therefore, Officers consider that most trips to the site would be carried
out by car. It is unclear why other sites in more sustainable locations within a main service or rural
centre could not be used and how the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport
has been considered and will be improved. It also unclear why the specific business need cannot be
met in a more sustainable location and the application does not suggest that the proposal is a farm
diversification scheme or that it would form part of an existing farm business.

5.13 Officers acknowledge that the proposal would provide an additional facility to promote social
wellbeing and healthy communities, but a local need has not been evidenced in the application and
so it is not considered that the benefits of the development would outweigh the conflict with
policies OS2, E2, E5, T, T3, and CA5 of the WOLP and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF
(2024).

Landscape and visual impact

5.14 The site lies in a predominantly flat area which is relatively well-screened from the main road by
existing boundary vegetation. It lies in the Western Thames Fringes Landscape Character Area. A
small section of vegetation would need to be removed to facilitate the new access which would
open up some views of the site from the street scene. The proposed building would partly screen
the proposed car parking area from the north. However, there is the potential for the proposal to
be visually impactful given that existing vegetation to the north-east and east which currently screen
the site in long-distance views lies outside the red line boundary and so this could not be relied
upon as being retained. Therefore, subject to a condition requiring the retention and maintenance
of existing boundary vegetation along the southern and western boundaries and the submission and
approval of a hard and soft landscaping scheme and maintenance plan covering the north-eastern
and eastern boundaries prior to the commencement of development, it is considered that the
proposal would have a limited landscape and visual impact in the long-term and be acceptable on
landscape grounds.

Impact on flood risk

5.15 The development is classed as 'non-major development' following the national flood risk standing
advice for local planning authorities and lies within flood zone 3. Therefore, in accordance with this
guidance, the Environment Agency have been consulted. The site has a high surface water
susceptibility and there is a watercourse running circa |5m. from the site boundary and a ditch runs
along the north-eastern side of Buckland Road, adjacent to the site. An area of hard standing is
proposed and discharge to a watercourse.

5.16 The application is not accompanied by an appropriate flood risk assessment and so the
Environment Agency and Council's Drainage Officer have raised objections to the application. The
agent has submitted an FR, but this is from 2021 and relates to a different proposed development.
Therefore, the local planning authority is unable to determine whether the proposal would increase
flood risk and, where possible, reduce flood risk overall, and so the proposal is contrary to policies
OS2 and EH7 of the WOLP and paragraph 181 of the NPPF.

Page 54



Impact on ecology

5.17 The Council's biodiversity officer has been consulted and has raised a holding objection due to
insufficient information on biodiversity. The application site is within a red impact risk zone for
great crested newts, there are three known ponds within 100m and a further seven ponds within
500m. While there are no ponds within the site itself, the habitats on site could support great
crested newts in their terrestrial phase (and/or other protected species) which may be harmed if
the proposed development is approved. A preliminary ecological appraisal has not been supplied
and so Nature Space, as the consultee for development that may impact GCNSs, raise an objection.

5.18 Therefore, insufficient information has been provided to enable the Local Planning Authority to
assess the potential impact of the proposed development on local ecology and biodiversity as well
as whether the statutory requirement for 10% biodiversity net gain will be achieved contrary to
policies OS2 and EH3 of the adopted WOLP, the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF (2024) and the
Environment Act 2021 (as amended).

Impact on highway safety and parking

5.19 In terms of parking, 10 additional parking spaces are proposed. The County Council's 'parking
standards for new developments' document states that | space per 30sqm of public floor area
should be provided for commercial, business and services (indoor sport, recreation or fitness,
gyms). For 244sqm of additional floor space, this translates to circa 8 additional car parking spaces
and so it is considered that sufficient car parking is proposed for the development in accordance
with policy T4 of the adopted WOLP.

5.20 In terms of impact on highway safety, the County Council have raised no objection to the
application, subject to conditions requiring a parking plan, access details and turning facility details.
As works would be required to be carried out on land outside the control of the applicant, it would
be unreasonable and not enforceable to impose the access details condition suggested by the
County Council. However, a Grampian condition could possibly be imposed, prohibiting the
development until the access details have been agreed.

Impact on amenity

5.21 In terms of impact on amenity, the nearest noise sensitive property appears to be circa 80m from
the proposed development with the garden area being much closer. The Council's Environmental
Health Officer (noise & amenities) has raised an objection on the grounds of insufficient information
to demonstrate noise will not impact neighbours. They have requested a noise impact assessment
and noise management plan. Therefore, the application is considered to be contrary to policies OS2
and EH8 of the adopted WOLP. Details of lighting could be secured by condition. No objections
have been received from a land contamination perspective.

Other Matters

5.22 The site lies in a mineral consultation area, but the county council have no objection to the
proposed development.

Page 55



Recommendation

5.23 In conclusion, for the above reasons, the proposed development is considered to be contrary to
policies OS2, E2, E5, T1, T3, EH7, EH3, EH8 and CA5 of the adopted WOLP and relevant
paragraphs of the NPPF (2024). Officers do not consider that there are other material
considerations that outweigh this conflict with the development plan and so the application is
recommended for refusal.

6 REASONS FOR REFUSAL

I. The proposal would not support the effectiveness of an existing business which cannot
otherwise be met in a2 more sustainable location, make a positive contribution to farm
diversification, re-use an existing building nor meet a local community or business need which
has been convincingly demonstrated. Further, due to the location of the site in the open
countryside where access by foot and public transport is limited, the proposed development is
not considered to be a sustainable form of development that is accessible and opportunities to
make the location more sustainable have not been explored. Therefore, the proposed
development is considered to be an inappropriate, unsustainable and unjustified location for the
proposed use contrary to policies OS2, E2, E5, T1, T3 and CA5 of the adopted West
Oxfordshire Local Plan and paragraphs 88 and 89 of the NPPF (2024).

2. Insufficient information has been provided to enable the local planning authority to determine
whether the proposed development would increase flood risk elsewhere and where possible,
reduce flood risk overall, contrary to policies OS2 and EH7 of the adopted West Oxfordshire
Local Plan (2018) and paragraph 181 of the NPPF (2024).

3. Insufficient information has been provided to enable the Local Planning Authority to assess the
potential impact of the proposed development on local ecology and biodiversity as well as
whether the statutory requirement for 10% biodiversity net gain will be achieved contrary to
policies OS2 and EH3 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan (2018), the relevant
paragraphs of the NPPF (2024) and the Environment Act 2021 (as amended).

4. Insufficient information has been provided to enable the local planning authority to assess
whether the proposed development would have an acceptable impact on the amenity of
neighbouring residents by way of noise and disturbance. Therefore, the application is considered
to be contrary to policies OS2 and EH8 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan (2018).

Contact Officer: Clare Anscombe
Telephone Number:
Date: |3th May 2025

Page 56



West Oxfordshire District Council - DELEGATED ITEMS

Agenda Item 7

Application Types Key

Suffix Suffix
ADV Advertisement Consent LBC Listed Building Consent
CC3REG County Council Regulation 3 LBD Listed Building Consent - Demolition
CC4REG County Council Regulation 4 ouT Outline Application
CM County Matters RES Reserved Matters Application
FUL Full Application §73 Removal or Variation of Condition/s
HHD Householder Application POB Discharge of Planning Obligation/s
CLP Certificate of Lawfulness Proposed CLE Certificate of Lawfulness Existing
CLASSM  Change of Use — Agriculture to CND Discharge of Conditions

Commercial PDET28  Agricultural Prior Approval
HAZ Hazardous Substances Application PN56 Change of Use Agriculture to Dwelling
PN42 Householder Application under Permitted = POROW  Creation or Diversion of Right of Way

Development legislation. TCA Works to Trees in a Conservation Area
PNT Telecoms Prior Approval TPO Works to Trees subject of a Tree
NMA Non Material Amendment Preservation Order
WDN Withdrawn FDO Finally Disposed Of
Decision Description Decision Description
Code Code
APP Approve RNO Raise no objection
REF Refuse ROB Raise Objection
PIREQ  Prior Approval Required P2NRQ  Prior Approval Not Required
P3APP Prior Approval Approved P3REF Prior Approval Refused
P4APP Prior Approval Approved P4REF Prior Approval Refused

SPL Split Decision

West Oxfordshire District Council - DELEGATED ITEMS
Week Ending 28th March 2025

Application Number-.

24/00928/FUL

Ward.

Carterton South

Decision.

APP

Demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings. Erection of eight dwellings and associated

works

48 Black Bourton Road Carterton Oxfordshire

Mr Steve Harris

DELGAT

Page 57



2. 24/01544/FUL Standlake, Aston and Stanton S106
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area

Demolition of existing buildings and structures, erection of a new residential dwelling,
associated access and garaging, biodiversity enhancements and landscaping (amended plans).
Land At (E) 441652 (N) 205889 Main Road Stanton Harcourt

Mr And Mrs Fred And Emma Gascoigne

3. 24/01832/FUL Witney East APP

Erection of two storey teaching block with standalone stair core and linked walkway and
associated landscaping

Woodgreen Comprehensive School Woodstock Road Witney

Mr Adam Bridges

4. 24/01992/FUL North Leigh APP

Demolition of existing barns. Erection of five dwellings and associated works including
alterations to access.

Common Farm Common Road North Leigh

P Wickson And B Seely

5. 24/02233/FUL Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield

Proposed side extension to existing stables
Moorlands Farm New Yatt Witney
Mrs Anne-Marie Shepperd

6. 24/02497/FUL Carterton North East S106

Change of use to allow food retail in units 9 and 9a at the West Oxfordshire Business and
Retail Park, Carterton

Unit C9 West Oxfordshire Retail Park Haddon Place

Mr Sam Cover

7.  24/02573/FUL Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Conversion of retail storage/ancillary space to two flats (Amended Plans)

27 Market Square Witney Oxfordshire
Mr A Patel

DELGAT

Page 58



8.  24/02645/S73 Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Variation of condition 2 of permission | 1/1725/P/FP to allow the addition of an external door
and accessway

60 Corn Street Witney Oxfordshire

Wilson Properties (Witney) Ltd

9. 24/02646/LBC Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Internal and external alterations (amendments to listed building consent | 1/1726/P/LB to
include formation of a doorway in external wall at first floor rear gable elevation to provide
means of escape and construction of a raised external balcony to provide linked access to
existing balcony) Part retrospective

60 Corn Street Witney Oxfordshire

Wilson Properties (Witney) Ltd

10. 24/02975/FUL Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Change of Use of Ground Floor Retail Unit from Class E to Class C3 To Create a Two
Bedroom Apartment

81 - 83 Corn Street Witney Oxfordshire

Miss Beverley Elliott

1. 24/03028/FUL Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Conversion of ground floor retail unit to provide ground floor living space to existing flats 81
and 83 Corn Street, with formation of two separate gardens, off road parking spaces and
associated works

81 - 83 Corn Street Witney Oxfordshire

Miss Beverley Elliott

2. 24/03137/CND Witney North APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Discharge of conditions 3 (schedule of materials), 4 (site investigation), 5 (Remediation
Scheme), 6 (details of cycle parking), 9 (Construction Traffic Management Plan), 14
(Construction Environmental Management Plan), 18 (surface water drainage scheme), 22
(construction environmental management plan - biodiversity) and 23 (Landscape and
Biodiversity Enhancement and Management Plan) of Planning Permission 23/02730/FUL
Car Park Rear Of 58 West End Witney

Miss V Tsoy

DELGAT

Page 59



13. 24/03143/FUL Bampton and Clanfield WDN

Installation of an air conditioning unit and heat pump condenser unit
Culfre Bampton Road Clanfield
Mrs Georgina Pearman

14. 24/03147/FUL Brize Norton and Shilton WDN
Erection of a replacement water storage pump house and GRP housing unit for new electrical
transformer
Foxbury Farm Burford Road Brize Norton
Clo Agent

5. 24/03270/CLE Brize Norton and Shilton APP

Certificate of Lawfulness (loft conversion to create additional living space)
Ashlar House Ladburn Lane Shilton
Mr A Montague-Fuller

6. 25/00005/POB North Leigh APP

Request to modify planning obligation, to amend the Unilateral Agreement (UU) dated
[1.11.22 attached to planning permission 21/03720/FUL and any subsequent S73 approval to
include an amended Affordable Housing Plan that allocates Plots | and 2 as the affordable
housing.

44 Common Road North Leigh Witney

Ms Debbie Jones

7. 24/03286/HHD Ducklington APP
Installation of 21 solar panels to be set into the roof of existing two storey extension and
attached converted single storey farm building.

Charity Farm Main Road Curbridge
Mr Richard Smith

8. 24/03287/LBC Ducklington APP
Installation of 2| solar panels to be set into the roof of existing two storey extension and
attached converted single storey farm building.

Charity Farm Main Road Curbridge
Mr Richard Smith

DELGAT

Page 60



19. 24/03289/FUL Eynsham and Cassington REF

Installation of 8no. Electric Vehicle (EV) charging spaces, unmanned amenities building and PV
solar canopy structure with associated substation, LV switchboard and ancillary works.
Alterations to an existing access and creation of a new access onto B4449 to form a drive-
through charging hub at the junction of A40 and B4449, with wayfinding totem and fascia signs
(amended description)

Land North East Of Hanborough Road Eynsham

Miss Suzanne Lyon

20. 24/03290/ADV Eynsham and Cassington REF

Construction of internally illuminated wayfinding totem and fascia signs.
Land North East Of Hanborough Road Eynsham
Miss Suzanne Lyon

21. 25/00045/CND Alvescot and Filkins APP

Discharge of condition 3 (schedule of materials) of Planning Permission 24/02630/S73
Riverside House Little Faringdon Lechlade
Mr Edward Zouein

22. 25/00047/TCA Eynsham and Cassington RNO
Affecting a Conservation Area

One single Blue Cedar which is badly topped out after a terrible previous prune
Tanyard Tanners Lane Eynsham
Mrs Laura Leonard

23.  25/00053/FUL Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Installation of an air source heat pump

Wi itney Youth & Community Centre Witan Way Witney
James Allen

24. 25/00095/HHD Alvescot and Filkins APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Erection of a replacement conservatory

Wellbank House Langford Lechlade
Sir and Lady Pomeroy

DELGAT

Page 61



25.

25/00096/LBC Alvescot and Filkins APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Internal and external alterations to include the erection of a replacement conservatory
Wellbank House Langford Lechlade
Sir and Lady Pomeroy

26. 25/00140/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
Discharge of conditions 2 (schedule of materials), 6 (Precautionary Working Method
Statement), 7 (details of bird boxes) and 8 (lighting design strategy) of Listed Building Consent
23/03349/LBC
Barn Adj To || Farmhouse Close Stanton Harcourt
Mr ] Bury
27. 25/00141/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
Discharge of conditions 3 (schedule of materials), 6 (surface water drainage scheme), ||
(Precautionary Working Method Statement), |12 (details of bird boxes) and 13 (a lighting
design strategy for biodiversity) of Planning Permission 23/03347/FUL
Barn Adj To || Farmhouse Close Stanton Harcourt
Mr | Bury
28. 25/00153/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Discharge of condition 4 (details of the proposed native hedge) of Planning Permission
24/01341/FUL
138 Abingdon Road Standlake Witney
Mr and Mrs Geoffrey and Victoria Ling
29. 25/00154/HHD Carterton South APP
Conversion of existing garage to annex
Staddlestones 41 Black Bourton Road Carterton
Mrs Andrea Hall
DELGAT

Page 62



30. 25/00170/TCA Bampton and Clanfield RNO
Affecting a Conservation Area
Beech - Remove tree
Reason:
Owning to species and the limitations of the tree’s location, my client believes that the tree
has outgrown its position and is too close to the property.
Firtrees Bridge Street Bampton
Mrs Patricia Smith

31. 25/00185/TCA Ducklington RNO
Affecting a Conservation Area
The ash is currently in Bartholomew Close, at the very corner of the park approx. 4 metres
from a semi detached house. | have also attached pictures of the tree in question. You will see
that at the base is cavity rot approx. a meter high by around 300mm wide. Upon inspection of
this cavity a large piece of the heart wood was removed. It was also noted that large amounts
of the ash that had fallen from the tree had signs of ash dieback. Location of the tree provides
a large health and safety risk as the park is used by children and adults to enjoy the river
Windrush. Should the tree fall towards the house/road then this will also cause significant
damage and adds to the health and safety risk factor.
30 Bartholomew Close Ducklington Witney
Ducklington Parish Council

32. 25/00197/HHD Ducklington APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Erection of single storey extension to link existing dwelling to detached garage, conversion of
garage to form entrance and hallway to dwelling. Removal of existing boundary stone wall to
provide access path to new entrance.
Badger Cottage 17 Standlake Road Ducklington
Mr Michael Buckland

33. 25/00200/LBC Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP

Harcourt

Affecting a Conservation Area
Replacement roof over existing covered courtyard area.
Flexneys House Main Road Stanton Harcourt
Mrs Mairi Eastwood

34. 25/00213/CND Carterton North West APP
Discharge of condition 5 (surface water drainage scheme) of Planning Permission
23/01352/FUL
Carton Lodge Swinbrook Road Carterton
Mr. A. Kandola

DELGAT

Page 63



35. 25/00216/HHD North Leigh APP

Erection of an outbuilding (amended plans)
24 Common Road North Leigh Witney
Qian Ye

36. 25/00205/FUL Brize Norton and Shilton REF

Change of use of annexe to short term letting (Retrospective)
Casio Cottage Westfield Farm Shilton
Mr Stephen Harrison

37. 25/00237/PNb56 Brize Norton and Shilton P4REF

Conversion of existing Deer Stables to create residential dwelling within the Sturt Farm
development.

Roebuck Stables 7 Sturt Farm Courtyard Oxford Road

Mr Fitzsimmons

38. 25/00263/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP

Alterations and refurbishment works to include single storey extensions, barn conversion to
provide ancillary use, change windows and creation of swimming pool together with
landscaping works.

Manor Farm Eynsham Road Cassington

Mr Andrew Thomas

39. 25/00273/FUL Brize Norton and Shilton APP
Erection of two storage buildings and a portacabin

The Wood Store Shilton Burford
Leach

40. 25/00279/HHD Carterton North West APP

Erection of single storey rear extension
2 Lavender Place Carterton Oxfordshire
Mr lan Davis

DELGAT

Page 64



41. 25/00282/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP

Front entrance porch and single storey rear extension.
South View Alvescot Road Black Bourton
Mr Pat Sear

42. 25/00295/HHD Carterton South APP

Alterations including erection of a porch, single storey side and rear extensions, replacement
roof including raising the ridge height and alterations to fenestration (amended)

52 Milestone Road Carterton Oxfordshire

Ms Lucy Jones

43. 25/00315/HHD North Leigh APP

Demolition conservatory and erection of single storey front, rear and side extensions and
addition of dormer windows

71 Park Road North Leigh Witney

Mr Sam Mitchell

44. 25/00313/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Erection of single storey rear extension and detached outbuilding.
10 New Lincoln Meadow Standlake Witney
Dr And Mrs | Gordon
45. 25/00321/HHD Witney West APP
Repair works to reinstate partially collapsed dry stone wall.
28 Lyneham Close Witney Oxfordshire
Johannes Arndt
46. 25/00322/LBC Witney West APP
Repair works to reinstate partially collapsed dry stone wall.
28 Lyneham Close Witney Oxfordshire
Johannes Arndt
47. 25/00324/FUL Eynsham and Cassington APP
Construction and operation of a micro energy storage project (amended plans)

Eynsham Fire Station Station Road Eynsham
Miss Ashleigh Boyce

DELGAT

Page 65



48. 25/00326/HHD Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield

Demolition of existing structures and buildings and the erection of replacement buildings
comprising a tractor barn, an apple shed and a self-contained residential annexe.

The Croft 81 Brize Norton Road Minster Lovell

Mr Alex Edginton

49. 25/00329/HHD Brize Norton and Shilton APP

Erection of two single-storey extensions along with enlargement of an existing window
opening to create a new external doorway

Yew Tree Cottage 60 Station Road Brize Norton

Mr Peter Granville

50. 25/00330/LBC Brize Norton and Shilton APP

Internal and external alterations to erect two single-storey extensions along with enlarging an
existing window opening to create a new external doorway. Internal alterations to include
reconfiguration of the second staircase

Yew Tree Cottage 60 Station Road Brize Norton

Mr Peter Granville

5. 25/00338/FUL Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Installation of external wall cladding and air source heat pump.
Welch Way Library Welch Way Witney
Mr James Allen

52. 25/00344/HHD Witney Central APP
Erection of single storey side extension and alterations to garage roof
9 Dene Rise Witney Oxfordshire
Mr Oliver Bridge

53. 25/00367/HHD Carterton North West APP
Erection of a single storey front extension.

10 Lavender Place Carterton Oxfordshire
Mr Stephen Carter

DELGAT

Page 66



54.

25/00364/CND Carterton South APP

Discharge of condition 17 (remediation scheme) of permission 21/00228/FUL
Land South Of Milestone Road Carterton
Mr Elliott Martindale

55.  25/00369/CND Eynsham and Cassington APP
Discharge of condition 4 (drainage) of 24/02775/HHD
Chilmore Station Road Eynsham
Mr And Mrs Norton

56. 25/00370/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP
Conversion of integral garage to create additional living space along with the addition of three
dormer windows to North elevation
Springfield Barn Glebe Farm Alvescot Road
Mr Daniel Tyrer

57. 25/00389/HHD Ducklington APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Installation of a new escape window in East elevation and alteration to the lintel on the South
elevation.
The Old Rectory 33 Standlake Road Ducklington
Sian Bishop

58. 25/00390/LBC Ducklington APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Internal and external alterations to install a new escape window East elevation, a fire-
separating door within the barn and alteration to the lintel on the South elevation.
The Old Rectory 33 Standlake Road Ducklington
Sian Bishop

59. 25/00400/CLE Brize Norton and Shilton APP
Certificate of Lawfulness (to allow continued use of Barn | for storage of vehicles - Class B8).
Land At Shilton Downs Farm Shilton Oxfordshire
Mr Charles Metcalfe

60. 25/00401/CLE Brize Norton and Shilton APP
Certificate of Lawfulness (to allow continued use of Barn 2 for storage of vehicles - Class B8).
Land At Shilton Downs Farm Shilton Oxfordshire
Mr Charles Metcalfe

DELGAT

Page 67



61. 25/00418/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP

Demolition of existing garage. Part single and part two storey rear extension with two storey
side extension (amended plans).

6 Old Witney Road Eynsham Witney

Sarah Whitlock

62. 25/00426/HHD Alvescot and Filkins APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Erection of oak framed orangery to rear elevation (amended)
Dovecote Barn Kencot Lechlade
Mr Jack Nethercott

63. 25/00427/CND Alvescot and Filkins SPL

APPROVED:-REFUSED:-
Dovecote House Little Faringdon Lechlade
Ms Pauline Rushton

64. 25/00440/CND Eynsham and Cassington APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Discharge of condition 16 (External lighting) of permission 23/02277/FUL
Grange Farm Bungalow Lynton Lane Cassington
Mr Blackmore

65. 25/00442/FUL Witney South APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Conversion of ground floor bin and cycle store to form a one-bedroom apartment, with new
bin and cycle storage provision (part-retrospective)

8B Market Square Witney Oxfordshire

Mr O McGovern

66. 25/00452/S73 Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield
Variation of conditions 2, 14 and |5 of Planning Permission 24/01956/FUL to allow for a
replacement drainage strategy

Singe Farm Akeman Street Ramsden
Mr Peter Williams

DELGAT

Page 68



67. 25/00453/HHD Brize Norton and Shilton APP
Erection of a garden office
22 Carterton Road Brize Norton Carterton
Miss Lisa Clements
68. 25/00460/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
Erection of a single storey rear extension
2 St Josephs Court Bampton Road Aston
Mrs Sarah Dempsey
69. 25/00466/S73 Witney East APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Variation of condition 2 of permission 22/02581/HHD to allow changes to the design and size
of the proposed garage
49 Newland Witney Oxfordshire
] Dale
70. 25/00473/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
Erection of single storey rear extension to garage/store and raising of roof to create annex in
roof space
4 St James Court North Street Aston
Mr C Horan
71. 25/00479/HHD Ducklington APP
Single storey rear extension to replace existing conservatory
34 Beanhill Road Ducklington Witney
Mr And Mrs P Wastie
72. 25/00482/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
Erection of a single storey extension
4 Southlands Aston Bampton
Peter Lambe
DELGAT

Page 69



73.

74. 25/00496/FUL Brize Norton and Shilton APP
Conversion of existing single dwelling (class use C3) to Ofsted registered children's home
(class use C2).
Malt Barn Burford Road Brize Norton
Peach Care Services Ltd

75. 25/00512/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP

Harcourt

Affecting a Conservation Area
Discharge of conditions 3 (Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation), 4 (staged
programme of archaeological mitigation), 8 (details of the access), 9 (disposal of surface
water), |3 (details of boundary treatment), |17 (landscape scheme) and |8 (lighting design
strategy for biodiversity) of Planning Permission 22/00430/FUL
Greensleeves Blackditch Stanton Harcourt
Miss Victoria Tsoy

76. 25/00527/HHD Woodstock and Bladon APP
Demolition of single storey extension and outbuildings erection of two storey rear extension.
(Amended drawings)
9 Hill Rise Woodstock Oxfordshire
Mr Stephen Freeman

77. 25/00588/HHD Witney East APP
Erection of a single storey extension
95 Wadards Meadow Witney Oxfordshire
Eva Bosher-Krivanova Gary Bosher

78. 25/00591/CND Ducklington APP
Discharge of conditions 9 (a travel plan) and 23 (record of the approved SuDS details) of
Planning Permission 20/01338/FUL
Windward House Carrick Road Curbridge Business Park
Mr Louis Hayter

DELGAT

25/00485/CND Alvescot and Filkins APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Discharge of condition 3 (details of nesting opportunities) of Planning Permission
24/02866/FUL

Rectory Farm Lower End Alvescot

R & ] Mawle Farming Ltd

Page 70



79.

25/00597/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP
Affecting a Conservation Area

Addition of solar panels to front and rear roof slopes along with the installation of |2kw heat
pump to rear elevation, along with conversion of existing garage to habitable accommodation
9 Queens Close Eynsham Witney

Mr And Mrs B And W Galloway

80. 25/00599/CND Ducklington APP
Discharge of conditions 7 (details of the acoustic fencing) and 22 (Travel Plan Statement) of
Planning Permission 21/03784/FUL
Leeward House Carrick Road Curbridge Business Park
Mr Louis Hayter

81. 25/00602/PDET28 Alvescot and Filkins P2NRQ
Formation of agricultural access tracks to allow movement of livestock and
vehicles/equipment around the farm at both Filkins Down Farm and College Farm.

Filkins Down Farm Filkins Lechlade
Mr Heyworth
82. 25/00618/LBC Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
Internal and external works to replace 6no. windows and an external door on rear and side
elevations.
Nutkin Thatch 5 - 6 Steadys Lane Stanton Harcourt
M Taylor
83. 25/00621/S73 Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield
Variation of condition 2 of permission 23/0223 |/FUL to allow internal and external design
changes
Oakdene Wilcote Lane Ramsden
C/IA

84. 25/00626/CLP Eynsham and Cassington APP
Certificate of lawfulness (garage conversion and alterations of existing WC to shower room)
34 Dovehouse Close Eynsham Witney
Emma Riley

DELGAT

Page 71



85. 25/00627/HHD Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield
Affecting a Conservation Area
Erection of a single storey front extension
Dundon House School Hill Little Minster
Mr lan Morris
86. 25/00628/FUL Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield
Add dropped kerb and create driveway
I5 Charterville Close Minster Lovell Witney
Mr And Mrs Rainbow
87. 25/00633/TCA Alvescot and Filkins RNO
Affecting a Conservation Area
One yew tree to be felled
The Yews Filkins Lechlade
Mr Sean Dewbury
88. 25/00640/HHD Witney East APP
Erection of dormer windows and roof lights
12 Harvest Way Witney Oxfordshire
Mr Abdul Chowdhury
89. 25/00647/LBC Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Alterations including kitchen, partitions and wc to be removed, new kitchen to be installed,
aperture to be reinstated and window installed to front, new wc added, new opening formed,
existing boiler removed and a new external boiler to be installed, adjustment vehicle gated
entrance to side.
Cote Cottage Cote Bampton
Mr And Mrs Anuj Nanwani
90. 25/00648/TCA Standlake, Aston and Stanton RNO
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
T1I Lime- Fell
46 Saxel Close Aston Bampton
Mrs Emma Cox
DELGAT

Page 72



91. 25/00650/CND Witney East APP
Discharge of conditions 6 (details of the access) and 10 (lighting design strategy for
biodiversity) of Planning Permission 24/00655/FUL
111 Manor Road Witney Oxfordshire
Mr Jonathan Pickering

92. 25/00652/TCA Witney Central RNO
Affecting a Conservation Area
TI Yew Tree on frontage. Reduce crown by up to 3 metres. Crown lift over pucks lane to
give statutory clearance. Trim lower growth on garden side to flat hedge form as screen. Gl
Fastigate Yews. 2 yews on frontage. Reduce height by | metres ( matching height of
neighbours roof apex). HI Holm Oak. Hedge on side boundary. Reduce height of hedge by up
to 0.5 metres to leave a flat level top. T2 Yew. Tree on side boundary adjacent T . Reduce
crown all round by up to 3 metres, leaving a rounded compacted form. T3 Yew. Tree on
frontage adjacent junction between puck lane and mill street. Reduce crown all round by up
to 3 metres, leaving a rounded naturalistic form. T4 Holly. Tree adjacent front of house.
Reduce height by 2 metres ( approximately in half)and trim side growth to clear house by |
metre. Reason for recommended work. Health & Safety, to bring back into scale with location
and good arboricultural practices.

Rock House 2 Puck Lane Witney
Mr & Mrs Jowett

93. 25/00654/PDEM28 Eynsham and Cassington P3APP
Demolition of The Dutch Barn at Tar Farm
Tar Farmhouse Tar Road Stanton Harcourt
Mr Ralph Gascoigne

94. 25/00655/PN56 Eynsham and Cassington P3APP
Conversion of an agricultural building to a dwelling
Tar Farmhouse Tar Road Stanton Harcourt
Mr Ralph Gascoigne

95. 25/00660/HHD Ducklington REF
Conversion of existing garage along with two storey and first floor extensions to south west
elevation. Construction of an adjoining two vehicle carport to the north east elevation with
first floor living space above and associated works.

I Moors Close Ducklington Witney
Mr and Mrs Day
DELGAT

Page 73



96.

25/00661/CND Carterton South APP

Discharge of condition | | (Construction Environmental Management Plan) of Planning
Permission 23/0297 | /FUL

48 Black Bourton Road Carterton Oxfordshire

Mr Steve Harris

97. 25/00662/CND Carterton South APP
Discharge of condition 5 (surface water drainage scheme) of Planning Permission
23/02971/FUL
48 Black Bourton Road Carterton Oxfordshire
Mr Steve Harris

98. 25/00663/HHD Witney North APP
Erection of single storey rear extension.

30 Schofield Avenue Witney Oxfordshire
Ms Abi Jenkinson

99. 25/00681/CND Carterton South APP
Discharge of condition 3 (schedule of materials) of Planning Permission 23/0297 |/FUL
48 Black Bourton Road Carterton Oxfordshire
Mr Steve Harris

100. 25/00686/S73 Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP

Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area
Variation of condition 2 of Planning Permission 23/01368/HHD to allow for alterations to the
internal layout, side window alterations (NE elevation), amendments to front door and porch
position and single roof lantern instead of 2 skylights.
The Old School Church Road Northmoor
Ms Elizabeth Claire Harvey

[01. 25/00687/HHD Carterton North East APP
Conversion of roof space of detached double garage to create storage area with works to
include the erection of an external steel spiral staircase with access door at north gable end
along with insertion of roof lights to the front elevation
2] Bryony Gardens Carterton Oxfordshire
Mr Chris Birks

DELGAT

Page 74



102. 25/00690/HHD Brize Norton and Shilton APP

Proposed loft conversion with the installation of Velux windows on the rear and side
elevations and a flat roof dormer on the front elevation.

Meadow View Carterton Road Brize Norton

Mr And Mrs Esapa

103. 25/00697/HHD Brize Norton and Shilton APP

Addition of solar panels on rear roof (retrospective)
16 Woodside Drive Bradwell Village Burford
Mrs Hazel Ward

104. 25/00698/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton APP
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area

Removal of garage door and replace with a bi-fold door
8 Pound Field Road Aston Bampton
Mr Martin Crapper

105. 25/00696/HHD Carterton North West APP

Removal of existing dormer on front elevation and replace with larger dormer.
64 Swinbrook Road Carterton Oxfordshire
Mr Simon Walker

106. 25/00703/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP

Erection of a porch and single storey front and rear extensions and associated works.
Red Brick Cottage Burford Road Black Bourton
Craig And Nathalie Hunt

107. 25/00704/NMA Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield

Erection of single-storey rear extension, rear dormer and replacement detached garage (non-
material amendment to change a window to French doors)

Fairview Lower Crescent Minster Lovell
Neil Fayers

DELGAT

Page 75



108.

109.

25/00724/CLE Alvescot and Filkins WDN

Certificate of lawfulness to allow the continued use of land as domestic as garden associated
with dwelling.

Manor Farm Radcot Road Grafton

Mr Jonathan Eddolls

25/00726/NMA Bampton and Clanfield APP

Erection of single storey extension to replace existing conservatory (non-material amendment
to relocate extension north).

75 New Road Bampton Oxfordshire

Mr & Mrs Hopkins

110. 25/00729/CND Hailey, Minster Lovell and APP
Leafield

Discharge of conditions || (construction management plan) and |13 (surface water drainage
scheme) of Planning Permission 23/0223 | /FUL
Oakdene Wilcote Lane Ramsden
Miss Natasha Lane

[11. 25/00731/NMA Brize Norton and Shilton APP
Construction of 99 dwellings (to include 35 affordable homes), garages, estate roads and
drainage infrastructure (non-material amendment to the wording of Condition |9 to allow
details to be agreed prior to occupation and the inclusion of hedgehog gaps/holes.
Land (E) 429494 (N) 207689 Monahan Way Carterton
Mrs Debbie Young

[12. 25/00743/HHD Witney South APP
Erection of single storey rear extension
116 Colwell Drive Witney Oxfordshire
Mr Jon Atkins

[13. 25/00745/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP
Replacement roof on conservatory
Beacons View Chapel Road South Leigh
Mr P Grant

DELGAT

Page 76



114. 25/00776/CND Carterton North West APP

Discharge of conditions | | (surface water drainage scheme) and 12 (desk study) of Planning
Permission 24/00629/FUL

Shilton Road Filling Station Winton 24 Shilton Road

Mr Gilbert Anderson

115. 25/00795/TCA Hailey, Minster Lovell and RNO
Leafield
Affecting a Conservation Area

T - Eucalyptus - Fell - Poorly formed, damage on main stem and compromising adjacent
boundary wall. GI - Cypress - Crown lift to an approx. height of 4.0m to allow adequate
clearance for vehicles.

Four Seasons 53 Lower End Leafield

Mr R Reed

I16. 25/00832/HHD Witney East APP
Erection of a single storey rear extension.
94 Eton Close Witney Oxfordshire
Mr Kevin Tipler

[17. 25/00849/NMA Carterton North West APP
Erection of single storey rear extension (non-material amendment to 22/02299/HHD to allow
reduction in the size of the approved extension and changes to the roof pitch).
2 Lipscombe Place Carterton Oxfordshire
Mrs Lisa Hutchings

18. 25/00850/CLP Eynsham and Cassington APP
Certificate of lawfulness (Proposed single storey side extension)
49 Dovehouse Close Eynsham Witney
Mr And Mrs A Green

[19. 25/00858/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP
Conversion of loft space with the addition of roof lights to front and rear roof slopes

26 Woodley Drive Bampton Oxfordshire
Mr And Mrs Alex Bond

DELGAT

Page 77



120. 25/00940/TCA Standlake, Aston and Stanton RNO
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area

Small cypress & maple - Fell to ground level.
Loves House New Road Sutton
Claire Cozens

121. 25/00956/TCA Standlake, Aston and Stanton RNO
Harcourt
Affecting a Conservation Area

T1 Common Beech. Section fell to ground level and replace with native species. T2 Lime.
Remove dead top to leave standing stem of 3.5 meters, manage as habitat. G| Lime. Crown
lift to provide statutory clearance above the adjacent highway. Thin crowns by 10% to reduce
canopy density.

Beech Cottage Sutton Lane Sutton

Mr B Downing

122. 25/01017/NMA Witney North APP

Erection of a rear single storey extension (non-material amendment to move east and west
walls inwards and change patio doors)

34 Schofield Avenue Witney Oxfordshire

Dr John Williams

123. 25/01021/NMA Bampton and Clanfield APP
Affecting a Conservation Area
Proposed new dwelling to replace redundant stables and store, to create holiday let (non-
material amendment to 23/02297/FUL to allow additional roof light in East elevation).
The Byre Primrose Lane Weald
Mr And Mrs Adrian And Samantha Smart

124. 25/01093/CND Witney West APP
Discharge of condition 3 (schedule of materials) of Planning Permission 23/01202/RES

Land West Of Witney North Of A40 And East Of Downs Road Curbridge
Mr S Bourke

DELGAT

Page 78



Agenda Iltem 8

Lowlands Appeals May 2025

1. Appeal Ref: APP/D3125/D/24/3350469
Address: Bazeland Farm, The Barn, Calcroft Lane, Clanfield, Oxfordshire OX18 2SA
Application Ref: 24/01210/HHD

Proposal: Proposed single storey extensions comprising new en-suite bedroom, garden
room and relocated porch

Decision: Allowed

2. Appeal Ref: APP/D3125/W/24/3355318

Address: Welcome Evangelical Church, High Street, Witney OX28 6HL
Application Ref: 23/03056/FUL
Proposal: Alternations and extensions to church building

Decision: Dismissed

3. Appeal Ref: APP/D3125/D/24/3355696

Address: Pillar Box Cottage, Road through Lew A4095, Lew, Bampton, Oxfordshire OX18
2AZ

Application Ref: 24/02201/HHD
Proposal: Annexin rear garden

Decision: Dismissed

4. Appeal Ref: APP/D3125/\W/24/3352062
Address: Fir Tree Farm, Barnard Gate, Witney OX29 6XE
Application Ref: 24/01095/PN56
Proposal: Conversion of an agricultural barn to a dwelling house.

Decision: Allowed

Page 79


https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3350469
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3355318
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3355696
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3352062

This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Applications for Development
	7 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers
	8 Appeal Decisions

